
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Environment Committee 

Date Thursday 7 December 2017 

Time 2.30 pm 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Leonie Cooper AM (Chair) 
Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 29 November 2017 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Sonia Labboun, Telephone 020 7983 5769; 
Email: Sonia.labboun@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please 
contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Environment Committee 
Thursday 7 December 2017 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 46) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 9 November 2017 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 46 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 47 - 50) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings. 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 51 - 62) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by the Chair 

under delegated authority, namely to agree, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, the London Assembly’s response to the Mayor of London’s 

draft Environment Strategy. 
 
 

6 Waste Management: Energy from Waste (Pages 63 - 66) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Grace Loseby, grace.loseby@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4299 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests on 

Energy from Waste, and note the subsequent discussion; and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group Lead 
Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 
 

7 Particulate Air Pollution (Pages 67 - 68) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, ian.williamson@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests on 

particulate air pollution, and note the subsequent discussion.  

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group Lead 
Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

  
 

mailto:Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:Clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:grace.loseby@london.gov.uk
mailto:ian.williamson@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

 

8 Environment Committee Work Programme (Pages 69 - 72) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the current and recent work, detailed in 

paragraphs 4.1 to 4.3, and its agreed future work programme, as set out in 

paragraphs 4.4 to 4.10. 
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 17 January 2017 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 December 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Environment Committee 
Date: Thursday 9 November 2017 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  

 
Present: 
Leonie Cooper (Chair) 
Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair) 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Tom Copley AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Shaun Bailey AM, David Kurten AM and Joanne 

McCartney AM, for whom Tom Copley AM substituted. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3 

Page 5

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 9 November 2017 

 

 
 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2017 be signed by the Chair as 

a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Waste Management: Household Recycling (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on waste management through household recycling to the following 

invited guests: 

 Councillor Feryal Demirici - Vice Chair of London Councils Transport and Environment 

Committee, London Waste and Recycling Board Member and Cabinet Member for 

Neighbourhoods, Transport and Parks – Hackney Council; 

 Andy Richmond, Environment Team, Greater London Authority; 

 Robert Hunt, Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia; 

 Antony Buchan, Head of Resource London, London Waste and Recycling Board; 

 Councillor Basssam Mahfouz, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Leisure – 

Ealing Council, London Waste and Recyling Board Member; and    

 Paul Killoughery, Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion, Members requested the following additional information 

from the Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia on what proportion of London’s household waste 

that is intended for recycling, gets recycled. 

 

 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 9 November 2017 

 

 
 
 

5.4 Resolved:  

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted. 

(b) Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion. 

 
 
6   Environment Committee Work Programme (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

(a)  That guests be invited for discussions as outlined at paragraphs 4.7 to 4.9, 

and 4.12 to 4.14 of the report, on: 

a. Particulate air pollution, as a second item at its December 2017 

meeting; 

b. The London Plan, as a second item at one of its meetings during the 

consultation period on the London Plan; 

c. Water issues, as the main item at its February 2018 meeting; and 

d. Mid-term progress with the Mayor’s environmental agenda, as the main 

item at its March 2018 meeting. 

(b)  Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree its response to the re-opened public consultation on the 

Airport National Policy Statement, as outlined in paragraph 4.10. 

(c)  That the current and recent work, detailed in paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2, and 

its agreed future work programme, as set out in paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6, and 

4.11 be noted. 

(d)  The summary notes of the visit to Powerday Recycling Facility attached as 

Appendix 1 to the report be noted. 

 
 
7   Date of Next Meeting (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 7 December 2017 at 

2.30pm in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 9 November 2017 

 

 
 
 

8   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 8) 

 

8.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
9   Close of Meeting  

 

9.1 The meeting ended at 12.27pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Environment Committee – 9 November 2017 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Waste Management: Household Recycling 
 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair): I am going to start by introducing Councillor Feryal Demirci, who is one of the 

Cabinet Members in Hackney, sits on the London Waste and Recycling Board (LWARB) and is also the Deputy 

Chair of London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee.  You are very welcome.  You possibly are 

wearing more hats this morning than anybody else in the room! 

 

The next guest is Andy Richmond, who is from the Environment team here at the Greater London Authority 

(GLA).  Thank you for coming, Andy.  This is not the first time we have seen you in the last couple of months. 

 

We are also joined by the Chief Corporate Officer, Robert Hunt, from Veolia.  Thank you very much this 

morning for coming. 

 

We have Antony Buchan, who is the Head of Resource London, which is part of LWARB.  You are welcome. 

 

We have Councillor Bassam Mahfouz, who is a Cabinet Member in Ealing and also sits on LWARB with Feryal. 

 

Finally, last but very much not least, we are joined by Paul Killoughery, who is the Group Managing Director 

and Owner of Bio Collectors. 

 

We are going to pose a series of questions to all of our guests and we are going to start with me, actually.  I am 

going to start by asking Antony Buchan and Andy.  How does the Mayor intend to increase household 

recycling rates in London, currently languishing at 30% compared to the rest of the country, which sits at 

43%?  We are some 13% behind, which is not a great place for us to be.  What does the Mayor plan? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  The Mayor has set out in the draft 

London Environment Strategy how he intends to encourage and support local London boroughs to increase 

the household waste recycling rate. 

 

Also, we have a 65% recycling target within the draft London Environment Strategy, which for the first time 

brings into scope non-household municipal waste, which is predominantly waste from businesses which is 

similar to household waste.  This is the first time that the Environment Strategy will look at waste in terms of 

material streams rather than who holds that material.  The benefits that that will have to London will be that 

we are identifying a further 3.3 million tons of non-household municipal waste in terms of material streams, 

which will present to market a greater opportunity. 

 

In terms of the household recycling, the draft Environment Strategy sets out a requirement to provide six dry 

materials for recycling for all kerbside packages and a separate food waste collection and, where possible, for 

that same service to be provided to all flats.  The modelling that Resource London has undertaken that we 

have used in the draft Environment Strategy has identified that if that is undertaken, if the six materials dry 

kerbside and food waste is implemented, we could look at London’s household recycling rate achieving 

between 40% and 42% by 2025. 

 

Page 9



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That sounds a lot better, but still we are going to achieve only the 65% 

including the non-municipal, then.  Is there anything that you would like to add to that initial answer from 

Andy, Antony? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Only to basically ratify what Andy said, which is 

that we undertook some modelling; it was based on a number of assumptions but, absolutely, the provision of 

a core set of materials to all households in London - so the six core materials to kerbside properties and five 

core materials to all flats - is absolutely critical if we are going to achieve the 42%.  We need to have an 

element of harmonisation to be able to do that - harmonisation of collection, the provision of those services, 

the look and the feel - so that when we are communicating with residents it looks and feels the same wherever 

they are in London.  That will help increase that recycling rate. 

 

The only caveat I am going to put on what Andy said is that there are some very broad assumptions in our 

modelling and that is particularly around the assumptions on increasing recycling rates from flats.  That 42% is 

achieved if we are able to achieve a 40% uplift in the amount of recycling that is captured from flats.  Flats are 

an incredibly challenging housing stock to deliver services to.  Currently, flatted properties recycle somewhere 

around 50% --  

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  We might just get you to hold there because we have some questions about 

tenure, flatted blocks and the private rented sector that we are going to come to. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Fine.  In that case, I will hold off. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  In the meantime, I am going to move on to Feryal because in Hackney, across 

the whole of the borough, regardless of ownership, 52% is in flatted blocks.  Feryal, having listened to what we 

have just heard from Andy Richmond and Antony about the Mayor’s targets, do you think that the Mayor’s 

household recycling targets are realistic and achievable, speaking as someone who knows a bit about 

collections from difficult flatted blocks? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  We should always be aspiring to do better in London and 

there are opportunities to improve occurrence and rate of recycling further, of course.  I am sure all of the 

panel will refer to it, but there are many challenges to achieving the kinds of statistics you have set out in your 

introduction, Chair, in a place like London. 

 

Some of those issues, as you mentioned, we suffer from as well in Hackney, where 52% of the housing stock is 

flats.  When we look at our street properties, 60% of those are also subdivided into flats as well.  Trying to 

reach all those residents to improve recycling is proving difficult.  In Hackney, we have a very comprehensive 

service.  We provide all the services possible - dry waste and dry recycling collection, food waste collection and 

residual waste collection - to all the housing types, flats above shops, flatted properties and estates. 

 

Historically, street properties continue to do a lot better than estates.  Whereas the recycling rates on street 

properties is around 36%, on estates it is between 11% and 15%, which is a real issue for us.  The cost of 

disposal is constantly going up and we have been looking at how we could improve that. 

 

Chair, if you want I can go into some of the initiatives and trials that we are undertaking in Hackney in this part 

or in later questions. 

 

Page 10



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I suspect we will come back to the bit about flatted blocks, but those figures - 

36% in the street properties and 11% to 15% in the flats - are actually quite a lot lower than the London 

average.  The London average at 30% is being pulled up by some of the other boroughs that are being more 

successful. 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Absolutely.  I would point out that this is with the 

backdrop of the fact that Hackney provides a more comprehensive recycling service to its residents than most 

London boroughs.  There are some boroughs that do not provide food recycling and garden recycling on some 

of the estates and we do offer that to our residents. 

 

I have said to you, Chair, previously that we are at a point where we are actually paying our residents to recycle 

and, despite that we are at really low levels of recycling.  We have a ‘green points’ scheme where residents are 

incentivised to recycle, which has an impact.  I am not saying it does not because we also link that with  

door-knocking to residents.  We door-knock and remind residents about all the services that are available as 

well as telling them about the incentive scheme.  That always has an impact on recycling for a very short time, 

say six months to a year, which is what we expect.  There will be couple of percent increase but then it will go 

back down.  Despite a very comprehensive service within the borough, we are not achieving the levels of 

recycling that we should be. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is really quite a challenge, then, is it not?  Andy Richmond and Antony  

Buchan were talking about going from 30% to 42% to 43%.  Actually, it would be quite a challenge for you to 

get up to 30%. 

 

I just want to ask Robert at this point.  Speaking from one of the companies who collects quite a lot of the 

waste in London, where do you see us being able to move to?  Councillor Demirci was talking about aspiration 

and quite a challenge.  Looking at her figures, that would certainly seem to be the case, and I am sure other 

boroughs are the same. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Sure.  First, I would echo what has been said thus far: 

high-rise accommodation is a great challenge.  Another challenge is turnover.  We have one borough where the 

turnover is 30% and another has 25%.  Transience is a key issue. 

 

Whatever the position, it is culture.  Getting the message out to residents as to why and the consequences of 

recycling is very important, and we have mentioned door-knocking, mobile units, leaflets and the like.  It is 

absolutely essential to keep pumping that message out.  

 

Another challenge overlaid on all of that is language disparity and the fact that this borough has 107 

languages spoken in it.  One has to use graphics quite a lot of the time and translation.  Communication is 

absolutely key. 

 

We would advocate, particularly because of the letting market, a good effort - and we do our best on this - to 

encourage letting agents to put the messages out when they are letting properties, in the fact that it almost 

came as a pack with the keys as it were to say what is the methodology in the borough in which your flat is 

situated and what are the good results that might be achieved from it. 

 

I have another statistic which is quite interesting because we have one London borough - and it may be 

accident; it may be not accident - that moved to separate food waste collection and the actual recycling rates 

went up from 33% to 52% in a very short period of time.  Food waste is heavy and, if you are getting it and 

Page 11



 

 

capturing it, it does seemingly make quite a substantial and quite shocking difference in the area.  Some of the 

statistics I have -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Are you going to name names on this secret borough? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  It is Sutton, which has a startling and graphic differential 

in such a relatively short period of time.  As an overall issue, the higher rates are in the outer boroughs and 

that is probably - and this is speculation - because you get a lot more greener waste, which is of course also 

very heavy.  In central areas, of course, there is not the green waste because you do not necessarily have the 

gardens particularly in the estates and the like. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  No, 52% flats means 52% dwellings without gardens and so no opportunity to 

be collecting the garden waste. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Bringing Andy Richmond and Antony Buchan back in, do you think the Mayor 

has sufficient powers to deal with some of these issues?  We have talked about the need for more 

harmonisation.  We have talked about the churn and the transience of populations and - we will probably come 

back to this when we talk about the private rented sector - the need for letting agents to get better messaging 

out to people and for councils to get better messaging out.  Does the Mayor have enough powers to get us all 

up to 40% or 42%?  I am going to start with you, Andy, and then move on to Antony. 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  The Mayor does have quite 

significant powers in terms of municipal waste.  We are in a period when we are working very well together 

with the London boroughs and the waste authorities through the LWARB. The LWARB is an excellent example 

of a partnership between the Mayor and the London boroughs.  We all agree on what the challenges are and, 

to varying degrees, we agree on what the interventions are that are required. 

 

There are a number of factors that are going to make it a little bit more difficult.  There are some existing 

contracts operating within London that may well impact on what an authority can do within the period of that 

contract.  There are also costs associated with what is required.  The modelling suggests that to provide the 

soft infrastructure - the bins, the boxes, the changes to services - somewhere in the region of a £100 million to 

£300 million is going to be required.  Resource London has about £6 million and so that is where we currently 

are. 

 

We are speaking to the Government to say that there is going to be investment required.  As you know,  

Dr Thérèse Coffey MP, the Minister [Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Environment and Rural Life 

Opportunities], sent letters to 12 London boroughs that were recycling less than 30% asking for a response 

and comments as to what the challenges were.  Each of the boroughs responded with exactly the same 

challenges and, as I understand, the other boroughs outside of London also have the same similar challenges: 

flats, a transient population and the need for soft infrastructure. 

 

On paper, we have everything that we need, apart from the money, to maximise what is achievable.  Alongside 

that, we have talked about the circular economy, and we are also looking at how we can maximise the 

avoidance of waste because we want to avoid as much as possible before we come to what we need to recycle.  

In that sense, I do. 

 

Page 12



 

 

One plea would be that London is often compared to the other English regions and we are compared on total 

recycling rates.  We know that 32% household waste recycling is not enough and 42% is what we are aiming 

for as a minimum.  However, when you look at the other regions’ recycling rates and you discount the garden 

waste from that, we are still at the bottom of the league tables -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is bizarre.  It does not change the position. 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  It does not change the position; it 

changes the size of the difference.  Also, when we start to look at how London is performing with other 

international cities of a similar ilk - and we have some examples within the evidence base of the Strategy - we 

are not actually performing as badly when you look at comparable data. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Really?  In comparison to Milan? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  I do not think we have Milan on there 

yet. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  No -- 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Milan is about the size of only one London 

borough.  It has only 1.4 million residents in comparison to 8.7 million. 

 

Tom Copley AM: -- a big London borough. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Quite a big London borough. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Well, 8.7 million  

 

Tom Copley AM:  Maybe four or five London boroughs. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Are we being unkind to Milan here?  Did you say that it is merely the size of a 

small London borough or did you say a large London borough? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  A very large one but -- 

 

Tom Copley AM: It is the size of Birmingham. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I think 1.4 million is -- 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  If you compare London with other large cities - if 

you compare it to New York, Los Angeles, San Francisco - we have done a normalisation of the recycling rates 

in which London performed very well indeed.  We performed about third out of all of those cities.  Singapore is 

higher -- 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  Seoul and Adelaide. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  -- and Seoul and Adelaide are higher.  You 

normalise the recycling rate because you have to remember that all of these cities report recycling rates in 

slightly different ways.  They include slightly different elements in the recycling rates.  One big difference, for 

Page 13



 

 

example, between the way in which the United Kingdom (UK) reports its recycling rate in comparison to 

Europe is we do not include bottom ash from incineration.  If you normalise it by taking that element out of 

the recycling rate, London as a huge multinational city compares very favourably to other large multinational 

cities. 

 

In fact, London compares very favourably to other English core cities.  Again, Andy said about removing the 

garden waste and comparing us to other regions, but, even then, as you say, there is still a performance gap.  

However, if you compare London to other core cities, London’s recycling rate is pretty much on a par with 

those other cities that face similar issues and difficulties in delivering services that we do. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is very interesting to hear that we are above Japanese cities, but we are here 

focusing on household recycling and waste rather than issues like rubbish thrown down into the street or fly-

tipping, which we are going to not be discussing this morning.  If we added those in, we might still be 

somewhat lower down the pecking order because there are a lot of places that are a lot cleaner than London in 

terms of what ends up on the pavement. 

 

If you were not starting from where we are now but I asked you to design the ideal system, what would it look 

like?  If you were going to design the ideal waste collection service for London, describe it. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  I will answer that in two ways.  If you were going to have 

a brand-new housing estate or whatever, what I would be saying to you is, for liquid and food wastes, I would 

put in vacuum technology to get the stuff out directly from the flats to avoid caddies and bins, etc, and you 

would then design a system that would enable easy transference of that material to an anaerobic digestion or a 

bio plant or whatever.  Then you could design the varying bins, etc, that would best be suited.  You would start 

with the bin design being done at the architectural stage of the buildings rather than what has to happen in 

most other areas where you have to retrofit, as it were, on that basis.  That is the dream paradigm. 

 

There will be opportunities.  Old Oak is an obvious example and Ebbsfleet has similar approaches rather than 

perhaps being constrained by what has happened before.  Think outside the box and think about how we can 

minimise vehicle movements, etc, and collection methodologies to achieve sustainable and circular results.  

That would be the new approach. 

 

You will not be surprised by this.  Separating and having food waste collection is a big and major step.  It is not 

nice to collect food waste.  I have done it as a loader.  However nice the caddies are, if you tip it up it goes 

over you and not into the collection receptacle.  It has to be thought out carefully.  The design of the food 

waste caddy is absolutely essential because it has to go into people’s kitchens.  It has to be nice.  It has to be 

of a format that is easily used on that score. 

 

The second thing is to get glass out of the dry mixed recycling (DMR) so that you are not contaminating the 

cardboard and the plastics.  That is going to upscale the quality of the recycling as well as the quantity because 

you can then use it in mainstream glass products rather than it necessarily going to aggregates if it is mixed 

with other materials on that basis. 

 

The third thing is that the message that we are getting from the figures from the boroughs that we can see is 

that lowering the size and the frequency of what we call the ‘black bag’ collection and upscaling on the 

recycling levels of collection yields very good results. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That is all very interesting and some of that leads me straight on to my question 

to Paul.  He knows a tiny bit about food waste collections.  Do you want to briefly just say what Bio Collectors 

Page 14



 

 

does and then go on to say, if you were helping Robert to design this perfect system with input from Bassam 

and Feryal, what would it look like? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  My name is Paul Killoughery.  

I am the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and owner of Bio Collectors.  Bio Collectors is the largest collector and 

recycler of food waste in London.  We recycle about 50,000 tonnes of food waste in London.  We do not 

collect any other waste streams.  It is food waste -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Is that an annual figure? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  An annual figure of 50,000 

tonnes per annum.  We have an anaerobic digestion plant in the London Borough of Merton and all the waste 

goes to that plant in Merton.  We collect commercial waste from London.  We have about 30 lorries every day 

collecting waste from Greater London and going back to the plant.  It is a processed through the plant and it 

makes fertiliser that goes to farms in Surrey, quite close by. 

 

The by-product of that is gas and electricity and so we export methane gas into the gas grid and we also 

supply electricity to the gas grid, which enables us to keep our gate fees very low.  Our gate fees are typically 

less than a third of the landfill or incineration gate fees. 

 

We have a very low gate fee and we are very close to the centre of London, and yet plants like ours are not 

full.  That is my first point: the facilities are there in London.  One of the reasons I am here is because we are 

not known.  We are quite a big collector and recycler in London and we are not known in London, and so it is 

an opportunity to explain what we do. 

 

Just taking up a couple of points mentioned, particularly about density, a lot of the arguments about food 

waste collection are about the cost of food waste collection.  A couple of the recent reports - one from the 

Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) and one from Eunomia - clearly state that if you get density, 

if you get enough people who recycle their food waste separately from their other waste streams, you save 

money.  Estimates vary between some of the reports but typically you see £10 to £15 per household being 

saved by offering a residential segregated food waste service.  That is a typical thing. 

 

On a commercial level - that is the commercial space that we live in - Eunomia has shown that by having 

density on grounds, you also make savings. Businesses make savings.  As a business, we offer a guarantee that 

if a food waste business, restaurant or hotel has a substantial amount of food waste and we supply them a 

segregated collection, they will save money.  We guarantee that.  We put our money where our mouth is on 

that. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I am going to ask more questions about food waste almost immediately, but the 

first thing both Robert Hunt and Paul talked about was separating food waste and the arrangements for that.  

In your perfect waste and cycling collection arrangement, Bassam and then Feryal, would you agree with that?  

What else would you add into this perfect system? 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Thanks, Chair.  This point 

about flats and purpose-built flats is absolutely key because we know under the GLA projections that by 2030, 

46% of properties across London will be purpose-built flats.  That is almost half of the properties that we are 

talking about in terms of supporting for recycling will be purpose-built flats.  If you are not building that into 

the planning in terms of this perfect solution, then we are missing a massive opportunity to reach the recycling 

rates that we want to achieve. 

Page 15



 

 

 

Certainly, from my point of view as a Cabinet Member and as Chair of the West London Waste Authority and as 

a member of LWARB, there are two key focuses.  One is around flats and making sure that we support those 

people who are living in flats to recycle and I will come on to how we do that; and it is at the second is food.  I 

am sure you will be asking more questions but certainly the starting point is that I knew when I came into the 

role that about a third of our residual waste - the black bags that were being put out at the time - were full of 

food.  That is absolutely tragic.  In a world where there is enough food to go around, we are throwing that 

away.  A third of our black bag waste was food.  It is just absolutely abhorrent.  We have done a lot to improve 

that and I am sure you will ask me a few questions about that later. 

 

In terms of the starting point, we have to start from the kitchen and inside the house.  How do we make it 

easier for people to recycle?  If you think to your office, if you think back probably 10 or 20 years, the reality 

was that probably most people had a wastepaper basket right next to their desk.  They would throw it in there 

and it would go straight into residual waste.  We have to make it more difficult for people to throw away their 

residual waste and make them think, “Is this material recyclable?”  How it should be in most households is that 

you have bigger bin for your recyclable waste than for your residual waste.  Of course, there is a question mark 

over how you design it to make sure that that is possible within the space of the kitchen or other space within 

the household, but we have to: (a) make it easier for people to recycle; (b) restrict the amount that people can 

throw away in terms of residual waste; and (c) absolutely, as both of these gentlemen have already said, make 

sure that every property as far as possible can separate and dispose of food waste in a way that is recyclable. 

 

I appreciate what Robert Hunt suggested is actually a way where essentially you get rid of it at source, 

potentially through the sink and so on.  That does make it easier.  Absolutely, I would agree with that.  What 

that does not do is show the household how much they are throwing away in terms of food waste now.  What 

happens with the caddies is that you realise every week, “Wow.  I am throwing away that much food.  If that 

was money, I would not be doing that”.  If we can show people how much they are actually throwing away in 

food waste, that is key. 

 

One of the things that is a blocker, beyond the short term to the medium term, in terms of people using food 

waste is obviously the smells and other things that are linked with kitchen caddies.  We have to make sure that 

we can try to support people in that.  We have done some fantastic work in Southall in terms of uptake in food 

waste, but I am sure I will save that for a bit later. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Very shortly.  Feryal, the perfect system? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Very briefly, I would agree, and I will echo what has 

already been said around having high standards and high-quality infrastructure fitted in when the flats are built 

because retrofitting, as we found out, later on it is quite costly.  The basic thing you should have when you are 

moving to a new flat is containment for your recycling, your residual waste and your food waste. 

 

However, if we are talking about an ideal service, I would add to that.  The only thing I would add to that 

would be to improve the enforcement powers the boroughs have because, at the moment, we have very 

limited legislation to enforce compulsory recycling.  When you look at all the other cities around Europe and or 

if you look at Wales and Scotland, the biggest difference is the regulation around enforcement of compulsory 

waste.  That is what I would add to a perfect system. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That is interesting and potentially controversial.  We were briefly discussing 

before we came in - talking about mess in the street - the fact that in Singapore you will be fined £600 or 

Page 16



 

 

S$1,000 should you drop a piece of chewing gum.  Some countries do have some fairly stringent fines for that 

sort of thing.  Enforcement powers in this area and fines of that level are not really something we do. We have 

not gone down that road so far here, have we? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  It is that, as I said, we can as boroughs provide the most 

comprehensive service as we do in my borough, but if you do not have the powers to be able to enforce or if 

you have really limited powers and powers that were watered down in the deregulation in 2013, it just means 

that it is all about carrots and there are so many carrots.  We are just really lacking a stick in this area.  

However, as I said, if you look at the countries and cities that are highly performing and are doing really well - 

look at Wales, look at Scotland - it is the fact that they have stronger regulation in these areas.  That is 

resulting in more recycling, I would say. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Did you want to add something to that, Bassam, before we move on? 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Absolutely, Chair.  On this 

point of enforcement, we were one of the first boroughs in London to introduce the strict littering and then 

the fining for fly-tipping and that has yielded visible results on the streets.  Where we have them operating, 

you see less litter on the streets because, whilst it is an £80 fine, it is still a sufficient deterrent.  Clearly, in 

terms of fly-tipping fines, we go in with the £400 fine.  For many honest people across London, they feel that 

probably those two levels of fines are still not high enough and, for many, when you see the commercial  

fly-tips and so on, £400 is probably something that they build into their business models, quite frankly, so 

much as they have a business model.  Absolutely, we are prepared to use them.  The more people get the 

message that this is unacceptable and that they will have a possibility of facing those fines, the more we can 

try to curb that. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Those are the people from local authorities supporting the concept of having 

more enforcement.  I am going to move on to food waste, which is the next area that I specifically want to ask 

some questions about.  

 

The introduction of separate food waste collections usually increases recycling rates and we just had the 

example of Sutton from Antony Buchan.  Why does that happen?  When can we expect all the boroughs to 

offer separate food waste collections?  My understanding from Andy Richmond at a previous meeting is that 

22 now do separate food waste collections and so that means 11 do not.  What is preventing all boroughs from 

providing this service now?   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Just to correct that statistic, 25 collect food waste 

and 20 of those collect it separately.  That is about two thirds of London authorities.  If you look at England as 

a whole, only about third of English authorities collect food waste separately.  Therefore, London has pretty 

good coverage of food waste collection, but you are absolutely right that there are still those authorities that 

do not collect it. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Thank you.  Chair, we have 

increased our recycling in Ealing from about 45%.  We were one of the best boroughs in London, but we have 

now increased that to 52%.  That is where we are currently standing and that is through a number of different 

changes.  We are now London’s second-best recycling borough.  In terms of league tables, I like to be up 

there.  We now are in second place and pushing for that Champions League spot. 

 

Page 17



 

 

Some of that is down to food waste collections.  We have offered food waste collection separately for some 

years now, but what drives people to use that service?  One of the big changes that we made was alternate 

weekly collections on residual waste.  What that meant was two things.  One was a very simple message that 

on all of our black residual wheelie bins it said, “No food waste”, on the top.  That was a very simple message 

that people understood and think for the first time, “I should not be putting food waste into my residual 

waste”. 

 

The second element of that is of course that you are putting food waste and it is going to sit there for two 

weeks over the summer.  Occasionally, fingers crossed, we have some hot days, but it is not going to smell 

particularly nice at the end of the two weeks.  Whilst it is outside of the property, it is a massive driver as well 

to increasing our food waste collections.  That is one of the big key changes that we have made. 

 

That in itself increased our food waste collection tonnages by 46%.  We have seen some significant increases in 

terms of food waste.  Across the borough, we saw a 300% increase in food waste container requests.  People 

were thinking about food waste and collecting that and disposing of that separately for the first time. 

 

Through Resource London and the West London Waste Authority, as I say, one of the key priorities that I have 

is to make sure that we have the ‘Love Food Hate Waste’ campaign that we had previously, which we did very 

well on.  We pushed that more recently.  We worked specifically targeting 6,000 properties across Southall.  We 

know that is a diverse part of the city with many different languages spoken and so on.  How could we get 

across this key straightforward message of food waste?  We delivered leaflets, knocked on doors, delivered 

caddies and starter rolls of liners to support people in terms of making that step change.  We saw there a 40% 

increase in tonnage associated with that change in Southall alone compared to the rest of the West London 

Waste Authority, which saw a good but lesser 12% increase in terms of recycling.  We know that those 

additional steps can push that uptake of food waste recycling even further. 

 

We do know that of course, once people start, in terms of the graph, we will see a big uptake and then it will 

drop down a little bit.  That is partly because of the caddies and the smells and so on associated with that.  The 

other part of that is of course that people realise how much food they are actually disposing of and realise that 

this is not a good thing and that they should be doing less of it, which is a positive thing overall. 

 

One of the questions that I am sure you will ask us later is about this whole 65% target and where the ‘reduce’ 

and the ‘reuse’ come into it.  As London’s circular economy champion, we need to make sure that we do not 

lose sight of the fact that we need to be making sure that we are reducing and reusing as much waste as we 

can before we even talk about recycling. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  We may not come to it quite as much because we talked about the circular 

economy and reducing at a previous meeting.  Feryal, when are all 33 - the boroughs and the City - going to 

be offering separate food waste collections? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  I guess, as it was said earlier, boroughs are operating 

under really harsh financial conditions at the moment and there is a huge cost to rolling out these services.  I 

guess those boroughs will make the decision based on their financial situation at the time. 

 

We have offered separate food recycling services to our street properties for a number of years and then we 

have rolled that out to our estates about three or four years ago.  It does have an impact on the recycling rate 

but also on the wider behavioural change.  As our residents look into the amount of food that is going into 

their food caddies, they are more likely to change their behaviour around how much food they buy and when 

Page 18



 

 

they buy and how much food they are wasting.  It not only has an impact on our recycling rates but also on 

waste prevention as well. 

 

Just in terms of the recycling rates in Hackney with the changes - as I said, we offer a separate food recycling 

service and a dry recycling service - in 2003 we were at 2.6% recycling and recently we have reached 29% 

recycling.  We still have a lot of work to do on our estates and we are doing a lot of work on our estates at the 

moment with rebalancing bins, closing of chutes and making it simpler and easier and for residents to recycle 

both dry recycling and food recycling.  With investment into the capital infrastructure on our estates as well, 

we expect to see a further increase in our recycling rates. 

 

I would say that food waste recycling is a key offer that we provide our residents and it is quite important in 

terms of changing behaviour and, also, it is the heaviest component within the sack and so we want to reduce 

that amount. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  There seems to be a link here between getting people to separate out their food 

waste and an overall increase in recycling. Which you would have thought from what Paul Killoughery was 

saying about the lower gate fees, if the food is going into something that is going to be cheaper than the 

higher gate fees if you left the food in with the rest of the waste.  Are you referring to initial capital costs for 

things like purchasing caddies and equipment to separate the food waste?  Then, when you get to the point 

where the food waste has been separated, that is then driving an overall decrease in waste and an increase in 

recycling.  Is that something that you are familiar with as well, Paul, from your end? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Sorry, Chair, can I just step in?  In terms of the costs 

associated with introducing food waste, it is not just the initial upfront capital costs but also the ongoing 

collection costs, which could be in the millions.  That all needs to be factored in as well.  There is a huge cost 

to boroughs in terms of collection as well. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Bassam was talking about decreasing the frequency of the ordinary collections.  

If you are able to separate out the volatile material that then produces the smell, am I right in understanding 

from what you said that you do the dry waste collections less frequently than weekly now? 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Absolutely.  Both in terms 

of residual and recycling, they are on alternate weeks.  What we have been able to do is significantly increase 

our recycling rates, retain the food waste at a weekly level because we think that is the key component that we 

want to try to pull out of the residual waste, and at the same time we have saved between £1.7 million to 

£2.3 million a year on costs, both in terms of collections and in terms of disposal.  Of course, the more we can 

drive out from the residual stream - and the starting point was one third of that black bag was food waste, let 

alone all the other dry recyclables that were being put in there - and the more we can transfer out into either 

dry recyclable or food waste recycling, the more we can save in terms of disposal costs. 

 

For me, in terms of collection costs, I appreciate we have Veolia here and I am sure there are other large 

companies.  This is not the BBC; I guess we do not have to name them all or whatever.  However, for me, the 

point is that the collection costs are pretty much similar.  The overall tonnages are roughly about the same.  In 

terms of our modelling, our 25-year plan essentially is that we are trying to keep the overall tonnages the 

same, even with the growth in the number of residents, but the reality is that it is just transferring from one 

stream to other streams, which should be cheaper. 

 

Page 19



 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  Yes.  Clearly, there is a lower 

gate fee for food waste over incineration and that is very clear.  Everyone is right that the key factor is 

collection cost.  Collection cost is all about a density on a round, how often, how utilised that truck is going to 

be.  London has a great opportunity for that.  We have great density on any rounds in London and so London 

should be the leader in terms of food waste collection because it has no excuses.  There is huge density in 

London.  Even talking about flats, there are challenges with flats and I accept that, but what has been missing 

from the debate is about the opportunity in flats as well.  Flats, again, have density.  What any collector is 

looking for is density on that round and the density is there in London. 

 

Looking at the debate nationally, just a bit of history, really.  At Parliament, the Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs (EFRA) [Select] Committee wrote a report recently looking at all the arguments and decided that the 

model that had been adopted effectively in Scotland with a tonnage minimum capacity for any commercial 

business or restaurant - anything producing over 50 kilograms in Scotland would have to have mandatory 

segregation - should be adopted in England. 

 

Unfortunately, England has missed that opportunity because that was not adopted by the UK Government for 

England, but there is still that opportunity for London to adopt it.  It is not an outrageous strategy.  It has 

been tried in so many other places and it does work.  Reference has been made to Milan.  Milan is an exemplar, 

but there is no reason why London cannot be that exemplar. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  If we were to segregate all food waste - and I do not just mean domestic food 

waste; I am also including restaurants, cafés, all food waste across London - what additional infrastructure 

would London need if we were to collect all of that and deal with it completely separately, which we are to a 

certain extent, but not completely at the moment? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  London has to look after the 

infrastructure it already has in place, primarily.  It has some decent infrastructure in place, but we need to look 

after it.  The tragedy is that a lot of the food waste being collected in London is not being recycled in London; 

it is going outside of London.  We have a number of anaerobic digestion facilities in London.  None of them 

are full but that waste is being trucked outside to Bedford and all sorts of other places.  London must look 

after what it has, primarily, and then grow that.  London has not been looking after that infrastructure 

sufficiently. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  There is certainly capacity 

within the market at the moment in terms of, if food collections grew, companies such as Bio Collectors have 

sufficient space to be able to take it at the moment. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  How between the boroughs, the GLA and the LWARB could we improve that, 

then?  It seems silly to me because I know that some of our other waste is put on barges, floated down the 

river and sent to Holland and Denmark to be burnt in incinerators abroad.  It seems mad to me to send that 

waste abroad and just as mad to send food waste all the way to Bedford.  Given that what we have just been 

saying is that it weighs an awful lot, why are we not putting it into anaerobic digesters here around London 

and then creating energy and putting gas back into the grid in London?  Why are we sending it somewhere 

else?  How does that even happen?   

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  We do have some facilities in London 

and some facilities that have their driveways in London.  The LWARB and the London Green Fund have 

invested in two facilities, one in the north of London and one on the Sustainable Industries Park -- 

 

Page 20



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I understand that there are facilities.  What Paul and what Bassam were saying is 

that there are facilities and they have spare capacity. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  That is nationwide, but the 

question mark is coming back to the finances because, as you know, local authorities and disposal authorities 

such as West London Waste or North London Waste are under incredibly tight financial constraints.  When we 

go to procure, it can be that it could be cheaper to send that food waste to an anaerobic digestion plant 

further away from London than it would be within London.  Those are the things that we have to balance, but, 

when we come to the procurements that we do, all of that gets thrown into the mix.  What we try to do is as a 

waste authority is, if it is going outside London for any of the waste that we take, it is transported by rail rather 

than by road and so on.  We try to make sure that the carbon footprint of that is minimised if that is the case. 

 

The other point that Andy made earlier was that some authorities have significantly long contracts not 

necessarily on food waste but on other disposal contracts, which can mean that they are tied in for longer than 

perhaps they would want on something that is not the best thing for recycling. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes, that is true.  I looked into the Western Riverside Waste Authority, but we 

have a break clause for those boroughs that do not currently segregate their food waste.  There is a break 

clause to say that we could segregate and remove it from the general waste stream.  I happen to live in a 

borough that does not segregate food waste, which is why I was making that inquiry. 

 

It does seem sensible to me, I would have thought - and I understand the procurement issues and all the rest 

of it - for us to try to dispose of our food waste in London and create the benefits to London from the energy 

that is obtainable. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I would like to ask a question on food waste.  Is it absolutely incontrovertible that weekly 

collection of food waste leads to greater recycling than fortnightly collection of food waste? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  We are a commercial collector 

and we collect as often as the business wants is to collect.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes, but if you are a chippy, you have no facility, presumably, for storing your waste for a 

fortnight, have you? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  The key point is that a 

fortnightly collection on food waste would cause it not to be the easiest thing for someone to do.  You want to 

encourage people.  You do not want it to smell; you do not want it to be a nuisance and all of those things.  

You want it to be as easy as possible for that person to do the right thing with that food waste rather than the 

wrong thing, which is to mix it with everything else.  That, for me, is the key thing and that is what we see in 

our commercial business. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes.  My question actually relates to recycling rates, I suppose, for domestic premises.  Is it 

absolutely incontrovertible? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Absolutely.  Weekly food waste is the one that will 

achieve the increase in recycling.  It is a dirty material that people do not want to store for a long period of 

time. 

 

Page 21



 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  You gave us a statistic right at the beginning of the number of boroughs that do not have 

a separate food waste collection.  Can you break down the number of boroughs that have a separate food 

connection with a less frequent collection than weekly? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  All 25 local authorities that collect food waste 

collect that food waste weekly. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Every single one? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Actually, 13 of those boroughs collect the residual 

waste fortnightly with one further authority coming on next year.  We actually have a situation where the 

majority of those authorities have invested in food waste services and, as Feryal mentioned, that is an 

expensive cost to that authority and there is an ongoing revenue cost of delivering that service.  Local 

authorities can then realise a saving by moving towards a fortnightly residual collection.  I know that it is later 

on in your questions, but it is the one area that we have not discussed yet.  What will also impact probably the 

greatest on driving up recycling rates is moving to a restricted residual collection, whether that be by 

containment or by frequency, but frequency has the greatest impact.  That does drive people to use weekly 

food waste -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  The answer to my question is, yes, it is, absolutely incontrovertible? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Related to that, can I ask you, Paul: do you have any clients that are local authorities or 

waste authorities? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  No, we do not have any local 

authority waste coming through our facility. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Is that because local authorities are reluctant to come to you? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  No.  In the past, we did have 

the local authority waste coming to our plant and so there is not a restriction in that sense, but at the time it 

was judged cheaper to take that waste outside of London rather than send it to our facility.  As things are right 

now, we believe we are still overall the cheapest option, transport and gate fee included. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  The 11 boroughs that we look after that collect food all 

do it weekly.  That is the statisitic that we have here. 

 

I would say there are two final points on this and one is a more general point that applies to everything and we 

have not talked about it today but we as a business are relying on it very heavily.  It is digital data.  We are 

much more able now to ascertain what we are picking up, where, what weights, etc.  Why is that important?  

Clearly, the biggest cost of any municipal authority - and I am sure the gentlemen around here will concur - is 

the cost of the vehicles and the cost of the labour.  Effectively, they are generally spread over quite a long 

period because the cost is so high on that score.  However, you can use your digital data to optimise the 

journeys that those vehicles have to make and the capacity of the containers in the end - we have digital 

capacity now for a bin to be able to tell us when it is full and when it needs to be picked up - for the sole 

reason that we do not want to spend any more on fuel than we absolutely have to be because refuse collection 

vehicles are very greedy on fuel consumption, as you would imagine.  Therefore, we should not overlook in the 

Page 22



 

 

entire debate, particularly with food, the digital data so that one can understand very clearly what is out there 

needing to be picked up. 

 

Then the second thing is - and I am not an engineer - the quality of the material that goes to an anaerobic 

digester is very important.  Getting the packaging out of it is also critical because, if you have packaging in it, 

it is not so good for the plant.  We have a technical expert here who can probably speak to that better than I 

can.  Our most successful anaerobic digesters are the ones that have a very consistent, smooth, soup-like 

supply because the bugs love it.  If the bugs die, it is a long while before the plant can get up and running 

again -- 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Some of us have just 

eaten! 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Effectively, an anaerobic digester is a stomach and it loves 

a pure, high-quality food supply. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Homogenous, yes? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Homogenous, exactly. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is exactly the same discussion that we have with Thames Water about wet 

wipes getting into the material that they deal with.  If people have just eaten, we really are not going to go 

there.  

 

I am going to move on to Assembly Member Arnold OBE, who is going to ask some questions now about 

prohibitive measures, which we have touched on slightly in the initial questions.  

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Thanks.  Paul, I heard you talk about Milan being the exemplar.  Milan is able to 

do this by a crew of inspectors who do checks and then, I suppose, fine the Milanese if they are contaminating 

the recycling.  Would that work here? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  That is the negative side of it.  

Milan’s model is really about what I was saying earlier: it is making it easy for people to do the right thing -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  No, but they do fine. 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  They have the ability to fine, 

and that is what they have and that is what we do not have.  Any regulated activity must have some teeth.  At 

the moment, the current regime is the Waste Hierarchy and the Waste Hierarchy in theory has a fine, too, but it 

is never imposed.  When you are into the areas that we are in at the moment where we have mixed food waste 

and general waste and all sorts of residual waste mixed in all together, the Waste Hierarchy does not have any 

teeth at all because anybody is allowed to, once it is mixed in that way, they do not have to segregate it and 

they do not have to send it to an anaerobic digestion plant; it just goes into landfill or incineration.  That is 

what we currently have.  It has teeth, but they are not used.  A regulated position with mandatory segregation 

would have to have some ability to enforce. 

 

However, the way I see it is that people generally want to do the right thing.  We are talking about it not 

costing any more money.  We are talking about it being the best thing that you can do.  Why would people not 

want to do it?  Why would people take the risk of taking a fine? 

Page 23



 

 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes, I am just saying that one of the most prohibitive things that you can do is 

hit somebody’s pocket, is it not?  In 2015, I am told, our Government removed the power of boroughs to fine.  

Do you know why that was?  Antony, do you know anything about that?  Why did the Government remove, if 

you like, the teeth in terms of the power to fine?   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  They have not been removed.  It is Section 46 

[Environmental Protection Act 1990] notifications, which allow local authorities to fine for certain 

contraventions.  Those powers are in place, but they were just slightly refined.  Local authorities can still use 

those powers but not so much for, let us say, the contamination of waste. 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Chair, can I come in on that point?  It was Mr Pickles 

[Sir Eric Pickles, former Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government] who decided that boroughs 

should not be able to use these powers and there was a huge - I do not know if anyone remembers - attack on 

local authorities for doing waste composition analysis.  He called them ‘bin snoopers’.  Any borough that had 

waste and recycling communication officers in place were attacked for having ‘rubbish spinners’ or ‘bin 

spinners’.  My borough was one of the ones that was picked up in that. 

 

The fact is that currently we all want our residents to take part in these services. We want to provide and are 

trying to provide the best service possible.  As I said, my borough provides a very comprehensive service to our 

residents.  In some cases, it is not used; in some cases, it is used incorrectly. 

 

The Deregulation Act 2015 means that the borough has to demonstrate the detriment to the amenity and so 

we have to go through a very long process of writing lots of notices and being able to build a case that it is 

having a detriment to the amenity before we can take any enforcement action against people who just will not 

and do not recycle or continue to contaminate.  It is a very expensive and costly process to the boroughs and 

boroughs do not actually make use of it.  We have been suggesting and I would suggest that the deregulation 

is reversed and boroughs are given a little bit more power to enforce when residents do not recycle or recycle 

the wrong things. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Just for me, has any borough in London ever used enforcement in a way that 

could show that enforcement would be a trigger for change?  Do we have any data on that?  Has that ever 

been used in London? 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  It is used such a small 

amount in terms of the specific power that it has mainly been used in terms of residents who might show up on 

the radar with other local authorities in terms of antisocial behaviour and so on and so forth.  Usually these 

cases are about more than just the contamination; they are also about other things. 

 

On the model in Milan, one of the reasons that works - and we were talking about the comparisons earlier - is 

that, essentially, if we are doing a comparator, Milan is a unitary authority.  It is one authority that runs the 

whole of Milan.  Here, we have 33 boroughs, plus of course this auspicious organisation and the Mayor as well.  

Therefore, when we talk about the transient population, if Milan has a transient population it is moving from 

one part of Milan to the other and they have the same system and they understand that system wherever they 

live in Milan; whereas here we have multiple systems not just across London but within boroughs as well.  

Depending on whether you live in a semi-detached, a flat and so on and so forth, you may have three or four 

different systems and so some of that harmonisation is quite key. 

 

Page 24



 

 

All of those elements that we have been talking about earlier and the restrictions on residual waste have much 

more of an impact than trying to fine people because it is relatively punitive.  The amount of effort that we 

have to put in is quite high for the return, which would be one or two odd households here or there. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Let us move on then to residual bins, then.  Andy, if I can ask you, where residual 

bin use has been restricted, do you have any data to show residents’ feedback to those changes?  Does 

anybody know what the state of play is where residual bin use has been restricted? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  We do not hold that data ourselves, 

but I would imagine that individual boroughs that have made the change from weekly to fortnightly or reduced 

capacity or bin size do have data, if one identifies what the change is in terms of the service that is being 

provided and the amount of material that is collected, whether it is for recycling or residual waste.  I imagine 

they have data on contamination rates and whether there has been any change to contamination.  I would 

imagine they would also have data on, let us say, complaints that might have been received. 

 

For some of the latest ones that have made changes, the south London boroughs of Sutton, Merton, Kingston 

and Croydon are currently in that period now.  I am probably going to get them the wrong way around.  Sutton 

has changed and Merton is next.  They are going through that in a phased approach and I am sure they will be 

collecting data on both the customer or consumer feedback and also what the impact has been on their waste 

service. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  We have moved to 

alternate weekly collection.  We had a kerbside sort on a weekly basis.  We moved to alternate weekly 

collections on recycling as well as the residual.  What that meant was a lot of people found it much easier to 

recycle for the first time.  It was simple and straightforward.  They did not feel they had to separate out their 

glass bottles from their paper from their cardboard from everything else.  One of the key steps about making it 

simple to recycle: everything that is recyclable goes into a blue wheelie bin and that is very straightforward.  It 

is really positive on that side of things. 

 

In terms of the restriction on the residual waste, we went with 240-litre bins or essentially 120 litres per week 

because it is collected fortnightly.  What gets a lot of honest, hardworking Londoners is that what we 

previously had was you would walk past a household which was putting out a lot of recycling and next door 

you had a household that was putting out 10 to 12 bags of rubbish every week and where was the recycling?  

Nowhere.  It was in the black bags content.  That cannot be right and we should not be allowing that.  With 

the changes that we have made, that stopped that from being able to happen in our borough.  What that 

means is, yes, you upset maybe a few people who do not know what the word ‘recycling’ even means or 

understand that terminology, but it gets them to make that behaviour change.  Once they do it, they realise 

how simple it is and how much cleaner it can be by doing that.  Now we have those people on board. 

 

Of course, there are some people with larger households, large families and so on, and we know the issues 

around houses of multiple occupancy (HMOs) and so on.  We have had to work with them to make sure that 

they have the right size bins and the right levels of education and support some of the angst and concern that 

comes from those residents, but we put in the human resource in order to make sure that we have that 

communication with people.  Perhaps they did not understand why the change was happening or what sort of 

changes they might need to make in their lives.  That has been really positive as well because one of the key 

things is about engagement.  If people are engaging with you and they feel that they understand where you 

have come from, they are more likely to take part in the services that you are offering. 

 

Page 25



 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I was just going to talk about restriction.  We 

talked about the 42%; we talked about the six key materials; we talked about food waste. 

 

The other fundamental thing that is underpinning achieving that 42% household recycling rate, which is set 

out in the Mayor’s Strategy, is the restriction of residual waste.  That is restriction by containment or by 

frequency, but frequency has the biggest impact.  Thirteen London boroughs now offer fortnightly residual 

collections and that includes authorities like Camden, a dense inner-city authority.  I am sure that Robert Hunt 

will have something to say about this but they do restriction by frequency where it is viable.  It is a dense, inner 

London authority.  They have looked at the authority and said, “Where does fortnightly work?  Where can we 

introduce that?”  Other parts of the authority might not be right for fortnightly collections of residual and so, 

in those cases, they restrict that residual by containment with smaller bins, which makes the resident make the 

right choice about the material that they are disposing of, whether it be food waste into the food waste bin or 

dry recyclables into the recyclables collection.  It is absolutely fundamental to achieving that 42%. 

 

If we continue to allow people to have unlimited residual waste, then it simply does not enact that social 

norming that we need to get to encourage people to recycle effectively. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is changing people’s behaviour through knowledge, yes. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Sorry, if I could just add in 

terms of the results in terms of the impact on the actual tonnages within Ealing, what has happened is that the 

restriction in terms of introducing containment for the first time and the frequency going to fortnightly has 

meant whilst our dry recycling tonnages have increased slightly, the biggest change that we have seen is, 

whilst we were already the best in London in terms of kilograms per head of how much people were throwing 

away residual waste, that has actually reduced further.  We are now still at the top of the league table but the 

kilograms per capita within the borough of how much residual waste is being disposed of has reduced even 

further because of this change. 

 

The other significant change has is happened at the same time is, as I mentioned before, the food waste has 

also soared as well and we can see a direct impact in terms of moving it out of one bin and into the food waste. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I should say that some boroughs are now 

contemplating going to three-weekly residual because, once you have taken out the smelly food waste and 

once you have taken out all the clean dry recyclables, the amount of waste that you are left with is so small 

and relatively clean that you can move to even a three-weekly collection.  Therefore, the local authority 

achieves further collection savings, which can then be reinvested back into other service provision. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes, we have covered those two areas.  What more can we do to encourage 

people to recycle?  We take home so much rubbish from supermarkets.  Is it not their problem as well?  After 

you have bought stuff, there is what you have bought that you are going to use and then there is all of this 

rubbish that then you are responsible for. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Absolutely.  We are 

constantly dealing with the producers, whether it is supermarkets or other big companies, producing this stuff 

that then we have to pay for in terms of the disposal cost and the collection cost in relation to that.  We need 

those companies to step up to the plate in terms of the types of packaging that they use to make sure that it is 

recyclable material and to ensure that it is separable as well so that you do not have something that is been 

thrown away which, when it goes to the materials recycling facility (MRF), cannot really be used because you 

Page 26



 

 

need to separate it even further; and also explaining to residents on the packaging what can be recycled and 

what cannot.  Ideally, of course, it should all be recyclable. 

 

What we need to do is step up to the plate to make sure that as much of that material that they are using can 

be recycled and so it also depends on markets as well. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Who is pushing that?  Would that be the LWARB? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  It is being done nationally. The LWARB is involved 

in that and we are signed up to the Courtauld 2025 Agreement, which the Mayor has also signed up to.  It is 

being led nationally.  London has huge purchasing power and residents have huge purchasing power, but this 

is a national issue.  Product is not just produced for London; it is produced nationally.  WRAP is leading on this 

through the Courtauld Agreement, working with both retailers and also producers as well and through the  

on-pack recycling label (OPRL). 

 

We also need to remember that we should not vilify all packaging because packaging plays a really important 

role in some cases, particularly with food where it makes sure that the food is prolonged for longer and gives it 

a long shelf life.  Sometimes if you look at the environmental footprint, the packaging has a much lower 

environmental footprint than allowing that food to spoil and go off and go into waste in the whole growth and 

production of that food.  Packaging does have an important role but, as Bassam said, it is critically important 

that we work with those producers to make sure that, when it does reach the end of its life and when it is 

removed from the product, it is recyclable and the systems are in place to recycle that.  That is a whole chain 

that is happening, working with those producers and with these retailers. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Thanks very much.  We have covered all those questions about the prohibitive 

measures.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Chair, sorry, I just wanted to add something on behalf of 

inner London boroughs.  Alternative weekly collections have proven to increase recycling hugely and outer 

London boroughs do benefit from it hugely.  Whilst the likes of Haringey and Camden are looking at areas 

where they can introduce the restriction, we are slightly more limited.  As I said earlier, my borough has 52% of 

its housing stock as flats and 60% of our street properties are converted into flats as well.  In terms of rolling 

out alternative weekly collection, it is slightly harder and the benefits are much smaller.  Yes, absolutely, we 

should be looking at it and there are benefits, but slightly smaller benefits for inner London boroughs. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  The message that I was hearing was that if it is appropriate to reduce bin size in 

certain areas, it is worth looking at, and that reducing the frequency overall of waste collections is another 

driver, but that separating out food waste seems to be a really good place to start because, once people get 

into the practice of separating things, that all really helps. 

 

That brings us on to the next area, which is about the quality of the recyclates and contamination and dealing 

with that whole area, which we very briefly touched on earlier.  I now want to bring in 

Assembly Member Russell, Deputy Chair of the Committee, who is going to ask about that and then also about 

some issues relating to housing type. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes.  Rather shamefully, I gather that the LWARB estimates that 

contamination levels of our recycling in London average about 14% against a national figure of 6%.  Our 

Page 27



 

 

householders in London are doing less well than people across the whole of the rest of the country in terms of 

making sure that what gets collected for recycling is clean and usable. 

 

A first question for Robert and Antony Buchan would just be: what proportion of London’s household waste 

that is intended for recycling actually ends up being recycled? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  I do not have precise statistics at my fingertips, but I can 

go back to base and have that checked. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  That would be useful. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Effectively, what we are talking about here is the ‘rubbish’ 

rubbish that would end up at the end of a sorting technology or a collection methodology. 

 

The answer is that we are working very hard to minimise that.  For example, on the paper side, in London we 

have just invested very heavily in paper pulp technology to pick up what would otherwise be the contaminated 

paper that could not go to China or to overseas markets to turn it into egg boxes, coffee cup holders, swab 

dishes for the National Health Service (NHS) and the like.  We have also invested heavily in a plastics MRF 

because one of the big things with plastics is there are so many different sorts of plastics and you then have to 

spend quite a lot of time sorting them out amongst themselves.  It is true: there will be some residual 

recyclates and I will get those statistics and send those through from the data that we have. 

 

There is an MRF code of practice now, which all of the major waste companies signed up to about 18 months 

or two years ago, and we are operating that also on the household waste recycling sites and the like so that 

you have to show what you are not recycling when you are in a position where you are saying, “This is a 

recycling facility”.  There will be some stuff because it does come in, contaminated plastic film and things of 

that nature, that then have to be taken out. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Are you finding you have recyclable material, like the cardboard 

sleeve that has gone over a ready meal and the plastic dish that the ready meal comes in, that has not been 

rinsed out and that is -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Can that be recycled or do you have to wash it? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Theoretically, if you are prepared to keep throwing more 

and more money at everything, you can recycle absolutely everything.  You will get to the economics of 

diminishing returns on that score. 

 

However, to take your example, as you rightly say, of food packaging, we have a technology called Tiger, 

which will rip the plastic film off - often you will get a lot of ready meals that have been bought that have 

never been opened because they have been bought and go out of date.  If people buy three for two or 

whatever and suddenly they look in their fridge and the stuff has lurked at the back, they then just throw 

them, so you do have to sometimes rip those open as well.  You will then sometimes get the curry that will not 

have been rinsed out and you have to have technology to do that and that is expensive. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  It was Bassam who was saying earlier about people realising how 

much food they waste. 

Page 28



 

 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  The numbers are scary. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  It is shocking to hear of ready meals being just thrown away 

unopened when we have so many people who do not have enough food to eat and also just in terms of the 

waste of money.  It is outrageous.  Sorry, Antony? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I was just going to come in.  Sorry, I do not 

recognise the figure.  I was pausing.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  I am sorry it is in our briefing. The LWARB estimates contamination -- 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  We have done a review.  We have asked local 

authorities.  It is not a statistic.  This is based on the figures that they give back to us and what they estimate.  

The level of contamination nationally is much higher than 6%.  I would not hold that as a figure which is fixed 

for London being much worse.  The level of contamination in dry recycling is very high and that is high across 

the country and that is around educating people to make sure that they understand their services correctly.  

We maybe have a slightly greater handle on it in London because we have asked individual authorities to come 

to us to give us an indication of what their level of contamination is, but that is certainly not a figure that I 

would stand behind to say London has a contamination rate of 14%. 

 

However, we are supporting local authorities very much to drive out contamination.  One of the projects we 

have done is we have developed with local authorities and with industry and with processors, something called 

the Contamination Calculator.  What that enables local authorities to do is to calculate the true cost of 

contamination in their collection.  That looks very holistically at the collection - everything from having to send 

a second vehicle to empty a bin that is contaminated, to the call centre cost, to the cost of communicating 

with residents - and it allows local authorities to establish what their true cost of contamination is so that they 

can then put in place a business case to drive out that contamination through increased communications or 

through a service review. 

 

Contamination is one of those things, because it gets picked up so many different points and so many different 

nodes in the collection, that is very difficult for local authorities to get a true understanding of that cost.  

Sometimes it is left behind on the street, sometimes it is picked up when it is dropped at the MRF, sometimes 

it is not picked up until it starts going through the MRF, and sometimes it is picked up at the back end.  There 

are lots of different points and we are working very intensively with six authorities currently as case study 

authorities to test different methodologies to drive out contamination.  That is looking, as I say, holistically at 

the whole service, everything, whether it be an authority that was double-shifting vehicles but they were not 

washing the vehicles out before they collected the recyclables and so they had an element of contamination 

that was coming in at that point that they had not identified.  It is everything from that to then intensive 

communications campaigns so that we can really try to get some good practice case studies that we can 

provide to other authorities because contamination is a really critical issue that is affecting local authority 

recycling rates. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Robert, did you want to come back in? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Yes, really to reiterate two further points and to draw on a 

point that Assembly Member Arnold made.  In fact, WRAP, the Department for the Environment, Food and 

Rural Affairs (Defra) and the industry are having interface with producers because you can have what I call 

inbuilt contaminations.  There have been some successes where - I better not name it - one particular plastic 

Page 29



 

 

bottle manufacturer put a plastic film wrap around the bottle.  It was a nightmare to then get that plastic film 

wrap off.  They discourage those sorts of behaviours so that what you are working with you are not making 

your life harder at day one, as it were.  We will hear more of extended producer responsibility because it is a 

stakeholder issue between the resource managers, the municipalities, the public and the manufacturers -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  And retailers. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  We have lots of difficult things, sofas, mattresses, you 

name it.  There are big, bulky items, which cause a lot of problems for local authorities on that score. 

 

The second point is getting glass separate.  That is also very important because it is heavy.  The better the 

quality of the glass that can be collected, the better it is. 

 

Remember - and we have touched on it tangentially earlier - what is going to make costs lower for local 

authorities is if the value of the recyclates is higher.  The value will always be higher the purer the recyclate is, 

because it is easier to take it to market and it is easier to make things from and the like. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  The borough where I live is Islington and we have had commingled 

recycling for years.  Having got used to separating out bottles and taking them to a bottle bank, we were then 

told to put them in with our dry recycling.  Are you saying that boroughs should not be doing that and they 

should be having a separate glass collection? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Yes.  It is a question.  That is the ideal paradigm.  It is 

easy for me to sit here saying that when you have large space constraints and that is the big issue. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Could there be a benefit to an inner-city borough of having glass 

recycling maybe at the end of the street so that they separated that out from what they collected from the 

doorstep? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Yes.  There is a very sensitive issue because I can 

guarantee to you -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  It will be noisy. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  -- that of the complaints that we get, probably half of 

them will be about the noise glass makes when it is being tipped or picked up.  One has to pick one’s space 

very carefully, but, if you can separate it in an acceptable societal way so that you are not going to be causing 

noise, it has to be a good thing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Or even deposit returns on the bottles so that the producers of the bottles take 

them back at the supermarket where people bought them, which is what they do in places like Germany and 

the Netherlands. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  The thesis is that if it is mixed in with other dry waste, it is 

a nightmare because you have to spend a lot getting it back out again. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  The paradigm issue that 

boroughs face is that essentially, if we want to increase recycling, then commingling and making it as simple 

Page 30



 

 

and as straightforward as possible for the customer is the way forward, but of course that then means a 

potential increase in contamination. 

 

In Ealing where we made the change, we have gone from kerbside sort to commingled.  Roughly, it is about 

7% to 9%, which actually, as I understand it, is quite low in terms of contamination rates compared to other 

boroughs that already have commingled.  Certainly, the benefits outweigh the disbenefits having moved to 

commingled, because the amount of people who are now recycling for the first time, how much more recycling 

is then being collected and so on, goes up.  Yes, there is a disbenefit on the other side, certainly from the 

processors, but technology has improved significantly over the years and so those MRFs can cope with what 

we are sending through. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I was just going to come in on the point that 

Bassam made, exactly that, which is that until we solve the issue of recycling becoming the social norm, that is 

absolutely critical.  That is what we are trying to deliver through the Recycle for London campaign: making 

sure that people understand and that they recycle in their homes.  We currently have a campaign which went 

live on Monday [6 November 2017] which is all about encouraging people to make sure they get a second bin 

within their home to recycle because every local authority offers a good service but, if they are not already 

doing it in their homes, they are not going to engage with that service in the right way.  As we say, recycling is 

not currently the social norm in many areas and so, if you then remove a material from the collection and make 

someone have to make a special effort even further to recycle that, you are likely to see a drop-off in its 

collection and it will find its way back into the residual collection, which is absolutely what we do not want.  

We do have some London boroughs that currently do not collect glass at the kerbside and that is because they 

suffer from contractual issues.  A lot of that glass is not captured as a result.  It goes into the residual waste 

because people do not make that special effort to go somewhere else to do it.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Can I just add something?  If it was a case where we 

would have to separate all the materials in-house, it would just make it impossible for us to deliver a service to 

boroughs. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  I was only thinking about the glass, just because we had hoped there 

was a case for that.   

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  One of the points, 

Caroline, is that you could go the semi-commingled route.  One of the south London boroughs has done that, 

where they have two different wheelie bins for different types of dry recyclables.  I cannot remember which 

way it goes.  It was something like paper and cardboard in one and glass and plastics in the other.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  That needs space.  In a lot of inner city boroughs, you do not -- 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Absolutely.  Yes, exactly.  

It is still on the doorstep.  Of course, that throws up its own issues.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  I was going to add that while we have a commingled 

service, we also have sites for residents who do want to separate glass and paper, and different-coloured glass 

as well.   

 

Page 31



 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  My next question is, what is happening to make people understand 

that recycling is worthwhile?  Part of what we have just been discussing feeds into that.  Is there anything 

anyone wants to add in terms of how to make people feel it is worthwhile? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  The message and the communications are absolutely 

critical.  I said it earlier.  It is explaining to people the why.  I spoke at a school not long ago and when I said, 

“Soon there will be more plastic in the sea than fish”, that drew an intake of breath because people do not 

realise that these issues are macro, planet-driven issues and that we are, as a society, responsible for thinking, 

“What are we going to be leaving for the generations after us?”  

 

Southwark, where we are, is very successful.  They invest very heavily in education and there is a facility for 

every child in Southwark to come to our education centre as part of Key Stage 2, to learn about recycling.  It is 

done in two forms.  They do a test when they get there on why recycling is important and what it is, and then 

half of them look at the education centre and half of them go around the facilities, so that you can split the 

class up.  They have a toy MRF that they can turn and they tip a load of material in and see it get sorted.  Then 

they have a load of quizzes.  It has to be child- and techno-friendly.  It was designed by the Science Museum.  

They step on footplates and they see an apple core and you have to show that it goes in the green waste bin -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I can see Bassam is smiling.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I have been to the Southwark MRF.  It is not just 

for children.  I should just say that.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Bassam wants to go.  You have already been.  That is very unfair.   

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Can I buy tickets online? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  If you want to come and see, you are very welcome.  The 

point I am limping towards is that when they do the tests at the end, because they have understood the why 

and they see the raw materials, the results are very much -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  That is the children and you hope they tell their parents? 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Then they educate the parents.  They go home and -- 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  On that point, Caroline, 

through Resource London and LWARB we have done some really important segmentation work.  We are all 

unique characters.  We are all driven by different -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Motives, yes.   

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  -- needs and motives.  

Understanding what is a driver for you or I to recycle is quite straightforward: we know it is the right thing to 

do.  We want to do it.  The only thing that is stopping us is perhaps the ability to do it.  If that service is not 

provided to us, we cannot do it.  For other people, they really do not care -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Or do not get it.  Yes, you are right.   

 

Page 32



 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  -- they do not want to or 

they have so many other things on their plate that quite frankly recycling is not even on their radar.  Then we 

have everyone in between.  What we have done is an important piece of segmentation work across London to 

understand where those people live and what sort of segments are prominent in different boroughs.  As you 

can imagine, we have more of the latter living in more central London compared to outer London and certainly 

the segmentation work that we have done is reflected in the recycling rates that we can see across the city 

through different areas.   

 

What that means is of course that important understanding of the customer can drive how we spread the 

message.  We have to have a different message for different people.  The messages for us are quite 

straightforward, maybe more of the more complicated things in terms of recycling, something like “Where does 

that go and what is the best way to deal with that?” whether it is technology or textiles, or maybe around 

contamination.  For other people, it is simply taking that first step to recycle in the first place and of course we 

have to make it easier and make it straightforward.  Clearly, that is why some of the work we are doing through 

Resource London is so important.   

 

We are now focusing that around flats.  Again, going back to how we can make it easier, the key message at 

the moment is, “One more bin”, having a bin within your kitchen so that you can have your recycling separated 

out there.  If that is the first thing you are thinking about, “Can I separate it out in my kitchen?” everything 

else follows from that.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Do you want to come in as well, Antony?   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Bassam stole my thunder slightly.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes, I thought you might be about to say something. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I am pleased that he has been reading the 

briefings, which is great!  Yes, we have the Recycle for London campaign that Bassam has mentioned, which is 

exactly that.  He also touched on segmentation, which is really important.  The new Recycle for London 

campaign is targeting the 16 most densely populated London boroughs.  That is where the two segments that 

are the hardest to reach over-index - and in fact they significantly over-index in those boroughs, in comparison 

to, say, the English average.  We are talking about around 45% to 55% of the audience we are tackling here 

being the two most difficult to reach segments in an audience segmentation of six.  It goes to add a level of 

complexity to an already very complex environment of communicating about waste and recycling.   

 

The critical thing about the Recycle for London campaign is that it works at a regional, a local and then a 

service level.  You have talked already about the issue of transiency, people moving around the capital.  You 

have to have a look and a feel to communications that works across the capital.  You have a regional campaign 

that has a particular voice and feel to it.  You then can localise that down, so you use the same messages but 

at a local level, and then that same look and feel at a service level.  People receive communications about their 

recycling and they say, “I know this is about my recycling collection because I have seen it when I am out and 

about around London”.  We work with all the 33 London boroughs and we work very closely with the major 

collectors.  Veolia, which has nine contracts, I think, at the moment -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Thirteen.   

 

Page 33



 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Thirteen.  We work very closely with their 

communications team so that the service material that they are putting out also shares that same consistency, 

that same look and feel, so that people understand that it is about their recycling collections. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Maybe people need to start thinking about it not as ‘recycling’ as a 

thing but, “This is just how you get rid of this packaging that comes into your home”. 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Social norming is absolutely critical.  You do not 

want to recycle because you are thinking, “I am consciously recycling”.  You want to do it because it is what 

you do.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  It is the most convenient.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  It is what everyone does. 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Instinctively, yes.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  It is instinctive.  That is very much, again, why this 

current campaign is looking at people’s actions in the home.  If you do not do it at the point at which you 

create that waste, by the time you get to that engagement point with a local authority service it is too late.  If 

you have already put something in your black bin and you live in a flat, you are not going to get down to the 

bins and then sort it out.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course. Just before we move on to housing types, has the Mayor 

given any attention to the quality as well as the quantity of recycling?  We all want to reduce overall the 

amount of waste that London produces but we would like a bigger proportion of what does get wasted to be 

recycled.  Has the Mayor put any attention into the quality of what gets recycled? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  Setting out the minimum service 

standard in the Environment Strategy will lead to an improvement in quality.  It will also lead to very basic 

harmonisation across the service.  If every authority is providing the same six dry materials kerbside and food 

waste, that sends a message to all Londoners that these are the materials that can be recycled frequently and 

are collected, either separately or in a co-mingled form.  That then leads to an improvement in the quality of 

the materials that are put out because you have that standard separation.   

 

In addition to that, we work very closely with Resource London and the Recycle for London campaign.  

Resource London has taken on the Recycle for London campaign from the Mayor.  It was previously run from 

this building.  Under the previous administration we signed it over to Resource London and Resource London 

are doing a grand job at delivering the Recycle for London campaign, which is communicating, as Antony just 

said, what you can do, where you can do and how you can do, which again will improve the material quality.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I just want to ask Paul a question.  You are doing the food waste collection on a 

commercial basis.  People therefore choose to come into that as customers.  The obvious benefit to them is 

that they then pay less in their gate fee for the rubbish collection.  Have you noticed, as they have come in as 

new customers, that they have gone on any kind of journey in terms of improving what they have done with 

their separation and collection?  Are there any lessons that we can learn? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  Most of our customers go 

from a single, completely mixed collection to a separate food waste collection and a separate DMR collection 

Page 34



 

 

and then a residual waste.  They get it very quickly and they understand that.  It is a natural progression, really, 

that they recycle all their other streams.  Then they find that the amount of DMR goes up because most things 

can be recycled and the residual waste goes down on a commercial basis as well.  The message is very similar to 

residential collection.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  The issues about contamination?  I think it was Robert who mentioned the issue 

of plastic film getting into the food waste.   

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  We take all sorts of different 

grades of food waste in, from some customers who have pretty much zero contamination - pure vegetable peel 

and whatever - right through to the supermarkets with the ready meals.  The plant is designed to cope with the 

worst situation rather than the best.  We would like the contamination rates to obviously be lower.  We 

typically see between 5% and 10% contamination depending on the customer.  Typically, retailers have a 

higher percentage of contamination and preparation from a kitchen will have quite low levels of contamination.  

If you get front-of-house segregation, that again can have quite high levels of contamination because it is 

much harder to educate people going to a sandwich shop, for example, to split their waste streams up.  

Generally, I suppose in sandwich shops people do eat the food, which is the best thing you can do with it 

anyway. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Some lessons there coming back to the point that the more you segregate, 

taking out the food waste, the more it is that we are able to deal with this issue.  People do learn quickly once 

they start, which was a point that Bassam was referring to. 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  Just one further thing we do 

is we report back what their food waste weighs and how much they have disposed of.  We see that once 

people see what they are throwing away, it is very clear what they are throwing away, what they could save, 

how much of that food waste was avoidable food waste, and reduce that.  You can always do better and 

reduce the amount of avoidable waste, food waste in particular.  What we see in our factory is generally the 

unavoidable waste.  It is the vegetable preparation and the banana skins and all of those things, 

predominantly.  We do not tend to see non-perishable tins, things in glass and things like that because they go 

to better places.  There is a grey market in that and there is also the fairshare, not-for-profit sector.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Assembly Member Russell, sorry, lets come back to you.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  To move on to housing types and the difference between recycling in 

flats and street properties, just to start off with, would Bassam and Feryal like to say if there is anything that 

has not yet come up already in terms of what is happening at local authority level to tackle the very low 

recycling rates in flats? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  The low level of recycling on estates and flatted 

properties is recognised across the board by the Mayor and local authorities.  We in Hackney, considering it 

comprises a majority of our housing type, have undertaken a full scoping exercise to understand [this issue].  

Not only do we have 52% of our housing comprised of estates but all the estates are set up in completely 

different ways so the needs on those estate blocks are completely different as well.  Getting an understanding 

of that is quite important.  Would you like me to go into some of the schemes and incentives? 

 

Page 35



 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Just one or two examples of things that you have done to try to 

boost recycling in flats or any observations you have about the particular difficulties that people face.  We have 

other questions and so do not feel pressured to come up with stuff.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  No, I have lots to say about the work we are doing.  I 

was not sure whether I should go into it at this point.  I would say just a couple of other things that Hackney 

are doing at the moment to improve recycling on estates.  Everyone on the Panel has touched on the fact that 

we need to make it simpler and easier for people to recycle but when you look at a majority of the estate 

properties you will find that it is much easier to dispose of your residual waste than it is to recycle.  One of the 

schemes or pilots we have delivered is closing chutes in blocks and then rebalancing the bin provision on 

estates, increasing the number of recycling bins, making it easier for residents to reach those recycling bins -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  It is interesting in terms of convenience that you have closed the 

chutes.  One of the estates where I live in Islington recently swapped the chutes over to recycling to make that 

the easy thing.  When you come out of your front door, you put the recycling down the chute and you have to 

carry your residual waste down to the big bin at the bottom of the stairs or the lift on your way out.  In terms 

of convenience, that seems to be working quite well.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Sure.  That is something we have trialled in one of our 

other estates in the past but because there is not that level of enforcement, you end up with huge levels of 

contamination.  We end up with people putting all sorts down those chutes.  In terms of trying to improve the 

quality of the recycling you are getting it is better to close those chutes where you have the infrastructure so 

that it is easier for them to get to the recycling bins than it is to get to the residual bins, I would say. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  If I could mention two local 

things and one London-wide, the first is in relation to estates.  Historically, we have had a number of different 

wheelie bins quite far away, perhaps, from where the properties actually are.  You have to separate it all out 

and so on and so forth.  All of that is a prohibitor for people to use them.  We are looking to move that to 

more co-mingled, closer to where people live, and to make that immediate, obvious change for people to try to 

encourage them to do so.   

 

The other piece of work we have been doing is around flats above shops, notorious for being difficult to get 

recycling from.  We have introduced time banding, which is related to enforcement.  Many of these properties 

believe, as do some of the commercial properties below them, that they have a daily collection where actually it 

is supposed to be a weekly collection in terms of their residual waste.  The time banding, related to the 

enforcement, means that they need to stick to a weekly collection rather than just putting out black bags as 

many times a week as they want, at any time of the day, and just leaving that next to the bin or on the 

pavement outside.   

 

Related to that is obviously the introduction of containerisation, both for residual and for recyclable materials.  

It is sometimes tricky but it is certainly the best alternative to what we currently have where people just leave 

black bags with stuff seeping out of it onto our pavement, which obviously comes back to the point you made 

earlier, Chair, in terms of our general street scene.  Often people would rather take a bit of space, perhaps in an 

alleyway, to provide that containerisation, than have the mess that they have on their doorsteps.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Have any London boroughs invested in the kind of bins I have seen in 

Lisbon and France as well, where at the street level, at the surface, there is what looks like an ordinary bin 

Page 36



 

 

where you just lift a lid at table-type height but underneath there is a big skip-like container that gets 

collected by the refuse collectors?  It is very normal.  When you go out of your door you take the food waste 

and you take things that can be recycled, and there is a separate one for residual waste.  It is incredibly 

convenient and incredibly normal.  Antony is saying you know about this.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Yes, some boroughs have - Tower Hamlets have 

some - but they are incredibly difficult to retrofit.  When we have huge quantities of existing flat infrastructure 

in London, that is a very expensive and difficult system to retrofit in.  Most of the properties were not even 

built with recycling in mind.  They were designed and built when everything went into one bin and putting in 

place recycling is difficult enough.   

 

Introducing and retrofitting that in is very difficult but they are absolutely an excellent solution where you have 

new build.  Bassam touched on it earlier.  Between now and 2030, 88% of the properties that will be built in 

London will be purpose-built flats.  What we must not do is just focus on getting recycling right in the existing 

infrastructure and then turn around ten years later and go, “We have the same situation now with all the new 

build”.  It is absolutely critical.  That is one of the reasons for the flats programme that LWARB has had for the 

three years.  We have £1 million of extra investment for recycling in flats and I will talk about the stuff we are 

doing with existing flats in a minute.  With the new build, it is working with planners and developers.  We have 

some flats planning guidance that has already been produced for local authority planners, it is also for the 

developers, to make sure they are designing it in - are designed with sustainable waste management in mind, 

and that the appropriate space and facilities are put in place.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair):  Is that something that should be a planning condition?  I am sure all 

of us can think of examples of newly built flats that make recycling and waste collection incredibly difficult and 

inconvenient because there is just not enough space allowed for it.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Absolutely.  That is why this tool is so critical, 

because it really depends on how well individual planners and individual authorities are trained.  In some cases, 

you have very good planning departments that are all over the waste side of new development proposals and 

in others, less so.  You are absolutely right, we have seen some examples in recent years being built where a 

refuse collection vehicle cannot even get in to turn around, let alone collect.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is a bit of a shame that the Code for Sustainable Homes - which covered all 

these matters in a huge amount of detail, not just the zero-carbon elements but also waste management, 

access to collection of waste and leaving enough space in kitchens for people to store their waste, even in flats 

- was scrapped because we did not need it anymore.  There you are.  That is just a personal issue for me.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  You just touched on a really interesting point, 

which is the in-home.  A lot of these properties are now being built with less than 5% internal storage.  Again, I 

come back to that you can put all the lovely facilities you like in outside of the building but if people are not 

already doing it in their home -- it is critical.  We need to make sure waste and recycling is thought about in 

the home as well so that people can engage in the services.  That is a big bit of a work that we will be doing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Is that something, Andy, that should be specifically in the London Plan?  Is it 

already? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  It will be.  Emerging London Plan 

policy will be strengthening the requirement to provide sufficient space within the development, both in terms 

of separating your materials in the home and also the provision of on-site recycling requirements.  They are the 

Page 37



 

 

two key issues.  We are also talking to developers through Resource London and directly ourselves, especially 

the good thinking developers coming forward.  However, still you are seeing in new developments there are 

small amounts of storage.  One of the challenges that boroughs are also feeding back - and I need to verify 

this - is that they find it very difficult to refuse planning permission at the moment on [the grounds of] 

insufficient bin storage.  We will need to do a bit more work looking into that claim from officers that that is a 

challenge that they have, and then how we can address that.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  The panacea, is to get to a place where people 

look around new flats and go, “Is there bike parking?  Is there solar-heated water?” All of those things, “Is 

there sustainable waste management built in?” That is the panacea, when people are looking at new flatted 

properties are thinking, “That is something I expect to see along with all the other services I am getting”.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Building to the Code for Sustainable Homes, minimum Level 4, would have 

covered all of those issues that you have just mentioned including the bike parking, the solar/thermal and 

indeed all the space that you needed in your kitchen for proper segregation.   

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Sorry, I am not sure if it 

was completely landed but the point that Antony has made is that, we as the LWARB have a £1 million 

programme to look at working with a large social housing provider that has properties right across London, and 

different types of flats as well, so that we can work through what works well, get that best practice tested and 

then be able to roll that out.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Will you have a report at the end of that? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  We are currently in the final stages of developing 

that project with a social housing provider, as I say, and the reason we are working with them is because they 

have properties across 29 London boroughs.  It means that we can work with them across a multitude of 

different service provisions.  That will be over the next three years, testing a lot of interventions, both more 

conventional service interventions and more innovative behavioural change interventions as well.  The whole 

point, again, is that because we are doing it across all those authorities we will be able to come up with good 

case studies that are replicable.   

 

One important thing that Feryal touched on is that there are no silver bullets for dealing with flat recycling.  

Every flatted property, every block, every estate is different.  Understanding that and coming up with solutions 

that are right for that estate is really important.  One of the key bits of work that we are doing through this 

flats programme is some ethnographic research.  That is to try to get underneath the skin of recycling in the 

context of the home, to understand the motivations and so on, which will help us inform how we design the 

interventions to try to deliver increases in recycling in those flats.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That is really good to hear, that we are doing stuff on existing estates, that we 

are thinking for the future about what we can do for new blocks to ensure that we build something in that 

makes things easy for us.  That is talking about that area and housing type but we have not really touched yet 

on housing tenure.  One of issues that has come to our attention is particularly around the private rented 

sector and rented accommodation.  We have touched on churn.  I am going to bring in Assembly Member 

Copley now, who is going to talk a little bit about housing tenure and some issues that relate to particularly the 

private rented sector.   

 

Page 38



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We have seen this big growth in the private rented sector.  I think it is a third of all 

Londoners who are going to be, in the next few years, renting from private landlords.  That has implications for 

people moving quite regularly.  How do you think the rise in rented accommodation impacts on waste 

management? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Absolutely.  It is something that we as Resource 

London have looked at.  It is a huge issue.  Just for some other statistics, 32% of London’s households are in 

private rented and 70% have lived in their current home for less than two years.  That just goes to show the 

issue of transiency.  Feryal also made a point earlier, which is that when you look at a street it may well look 

like kerbside properties but a vast majority of those properties may be HMOs.  Even where you have what you 

think would be a kerbside collection, you are dealing with multiple individual units in those blocks.   

 

Because of that transiency, people are less rooted in their community, they are less engaged in the service 

provision and they are not invested in the same way, because they may only be there for a very short period of 

time before they move on.  Very often they are in a younger age brackets, millennials, and they lead very busy 

lifestyles.  They are not planning their weekly shop, for example, they are not thinking about the products and 

they very often have a high consumption of and produce large amounts of packaging waste.  All of those 

things mean that very often in rental properties you see much higher levels of waste.  They are not invested 

and they are not aware of the service.   

 

In terms of tackling that, I mentioned before the look and feel of service provision across London, that 

harmonisation of feel, which is tackled in the Mayor’s Strategy.  Also, the way in which we communicate with 

residents.  You may move from Hackney to Ealing but you get a leaflet and with that leaflet you go, “It looks 

and feels like a service and so I know how to engage”.   

 

Another critical point is that when you are dealing with these people there are a number of different agencies 

or touchpoints.  That might be the landlord or a social housing provider.  We have produced recently a Guide 

to the Domestic Rented Sector that is a toolkit aiming at working and providing information.  If you are a 

resident in a rental property, what are your responsibilities?  How should you find out about what your service 

is?  If you are a landlord, what is your responsibility in terms of engaging with the local authority and then 

communicating to your clients, the people renting your property, what their responsibilities are?  Should you 

provide what kind of bins?  Then the final piece of that toolkit is for local authorities about how they should 

communicate with letting agents, managing agents or directly with landlords to help those landlords become 

informed about what their responsibilities are to try to tackle that issue and to make sure that everyone in the 

chain knows about what their responsibilities are.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am a private tenant myself.  Having moved from Camden to Lewisham, I got used to 

recycling my food waste in Camden and then moved to Lewisham and they did not do it.  Now, thankfully -- 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  They do.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  -- they are now bringing that in and so I am very pleased about that.  One solution, of 

course, to reduce transience might be to increase security of tenure for private tenants but that is not for this 

Committee, that is for the London Assembly Housing Committee.  Bassam, can I bring you in?  Do you have 

anything to add, particularly about what perhaps the Mayor could do to improve recycling rates in the private 

rented sector? 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Sure.  It comes down to 

regulation and licensing and obviously we have relatively limited powers and, perhaps more importantly, less 

Page 39



 

 

money as boroughs.  We can use the opportunity to regulate.  The Mayor is in a very strong position in terms 

of leading change to be able to say, “These are the expectations that we have of landlords, both in terms of 

the private and social sectors, and what we are looking for as responsible landlords on a whole series of things 

including very importantly on recycling”.   

 

Clearly, they are making a profit renting out these properties in the private sector and we have all heard the 

horror stories of the types of properties we are dealing with across our borough.  We have to remember that 

each human being who is living in these properties, or many of them, are simply surviving from day to day and 

recycling is not necessarily top of their agenda.  We have to obviously, again, make it as straightforward and 

simple as possible in terms of how we provide that recycling service.  Perhaps more critically, when we have 

turnover of those residents, those tenants living in those properties, we need to be able to crack down on 

those rogue landlords who decide that when they spend thousands of pounds doing up the property they are 

going to fly-tip the contents of that property onto the street for us to pick up the bill for that.  That is one 

thing we need to really crack down on as well. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Is there scope with boroughs that have licensing schemes to reach out?  Of course, all 

boroughs have licensing for HMOs and most HMOs are going to be private rented.  Is there scope to reach 

landlords via that? 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  We are, as I am sure other 

boroughs are, working with our licensing teams to make sure that we get those messages across.  As you will 

appreciate, sometimes the disconnect is huge and there are many different dots in between the person who 

you are talking to, roles and responsibilities, before you get to the tenants themselves.  How do we get that 

message across?  We have to take it at the top end in terms of talking to people who are ultimately 

responsible, the people with the money, collecting that money, and equally talking directly to the residents 

who are living there through, as Antony has mentioned, the communications being simple, straightforward and 

harmonised across London.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Just to say, with our larger HMOs and the housing 

associations there is that good relationship and we are working together to tackle some of these issues.  As 

Bassam said, the landlord licensing does give us another opportunity to engage with the smaller HMOs that 

may have been working under the radar and where recycling and some of these environmental issues are not at 

the top of their agendas.  Landlord licensing does give us an opportunity to work more closely and better with 

these organisations.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Excellent.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I was going to just say one final thing.  The 

Domestic Rented Sector Guide that we have produced does have some recommendations in there for further 

work that could be done at a national level.  One of the things that is available is the How to Rent guide, which 

is produced by the Department for Communities and Local Government.  It talks about all of the other services, 

all the other utilities, but does not talk about waste and recycling and the responsibilities, which is a missed 

opportunity.  We will be continuing to lobby for that to be included in that document.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  A relatively simple thing to change.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  Absolutely.   

 

Page 40



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  There might also be an opportunity.  They have the Tenant Fees Bill going through and it is 

not just about fees, it also relates to regulation of letting agents, so potentially there is some scope there as 

well.   

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  That was my point earlier, getting the letting agents to 

distribute the data as part of the deal. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  We provide information on 

our website.  You can put your postcode in and it tells you what your frequency is, the day of collection and so 

on.  So often I speak to private tenants and they are told by the letting agent, “You can just put your rubbish 

out every day”.  They are being told the wrong information by their letting agent, which is -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Which is terrible.   

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  -- not good Social 

Corporate Responsibility.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes.  When I moved most recently you got all this stuff from the letting agent - here is your 

water, your gas, your electricity company - but nothing about waste and recycling.  Yes, there is definitely 

scope for improvement.   

 

One thing - it is a nice segue into this - that might help is more consistency.  This next set of questions is 

about increasing consistency across London.  What structural changes to waste management collection would 

have the greatest effect on London’s recycling levels? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  We are already seeing a lot of good work 

happening.  There are voluntary authorities working together.  The South London Waste Partnership is a really 

great example, those four authorities coming together and letting joint contracts so that there is harmonised 

service -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is not a waste authority itself, is it? 

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  No, it is a voluntary partnership.  The four 

boroughs of Kingston, Merton, Croydon and Sutton have come together under a voluntary partnership.  They 

have let a disposal contract and they have now let a joint collection contract won by -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  Veolia.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  -- Veolia, as it happens.  I am sure Robert may 

have something to say about that.  That is a great example of a voluntary co-ordination, co-ordinating that 

collection.  We are also supporting a number of London boroughs in the southeast to look at, when there are 

contract opportunities, so when one unitary authority has a contract renewal, whether there may be 

opportunities for the joint procurement of services or to align services more closely so that we get that 

harmonised collection feel across London.  We are working with a number of groups of authorities.  There is 

certainly voluntary good practice and the LWARB is ideally positioned in that space, because we sit between 

the Mayor and the boroughs, to help co-ordinate that across London, working with those authorities.  We hold 

much of that intelligence on good practice already in-house.   

 

Page 41



 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  We have a great role 

through the LWARB and the programmes we have in order to push on the domestic side.  One thing I would 

want to say is on the commercial side as well, given that the Mayor is pushing in terms of including that 

commercial waste, there is a real opportunity to increase our overall recycling rate through local authorities 

doing more on the commercial collection side of things.  We are certainly doing that in Ealing.  I know that 

Southwark is doing that as well in terms of the work we have been doing through the LWARB.   

 

There is a great deal of food waste in restaurants, there is a great deal of paper and other types of waste in 

offices and so on, and recycling rates can be far more significant in an office setting or a commercial setting 

than it can be in a domestic setting.  By providing that service as a borough we can improve on the efficiencies 

in what we are doing because we are collecting from more properties that are already in the borough, we can 

provide the same sort of messaging and increase our recycling rate as well as potentially improving the surplus 

we bring back to the borough and can then reinvest into other services. 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Standardisation should not just be about having one 

collection system.  That is the costly part for a borough at the moment.  Some boroughs are looking at joint 

procurement for collection contracts.  I do not think it is the only thing we should be looking at when we are 

looking at standardisation.  There is a lot of good work going on sub-regionally, whether it is looking at the 

communication that goes out to members or ensuring that we all collect the same materials.  That is the kind 

of work we are doing with the North London Waste Authority.  There is also a great amount of work being 

done at LWARB level that is again around communication, making sure that there is the same level of 

communication and we are targeting the same groups with similar messages around the same issues, for 

example food waste recycling.   

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  I would echo that the South London Waste Partnership 

project has gone well.  It had hiccups, to be candid, because residents do not like change and - I hold my hand 

up - there were things we could have done better on that score, but it is working well.  I would say two things.  

Without wishing to row back on what has just been said, inner London and outer London do have slightly 

different constraints because you have different housing stock definitely in outer London than you have in 

inner London.  I would not want to lose sight of that, particularly with the rented and the flat issues you have 

just touched on that score.   

 

The wider macro point - and the Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy’s consultation document is very 

good on this issue - is that one should not lose sight of the infrastructure that needs to back up the collection 

methodologies.  It is essential that you have the digesters, the thermal plants, the sorting facilities, the transfer 

stations, all of that, to support the overall picture.  It is not what we are talking necessarily about today but it is 

a question one must not lose sight of.  You could get all this fabulous material.  What do you do with it now?  

That really is the seamless point: that you then have to have the outlets for it and not put it in a barge and 

send it abroad.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  I just wanted to make two points.  The first point is 

just to say that I certainly was not advocating that there should be a single system for London -- 

 

Robert Hunt (Chief Corporate Officer, Veolia):  No, I was not suggesting you were.   

 

Antony Buchan (Head of Resource London, LWARB):  There is a recognition that London is different and 

it has to be what is right for that authority. 

 

Page 42



 

 

The only other thing I was going to add was a bit of an anomaly, I suppose, in that Feryal, Bassam and I talked 

about the LWARB.  We are ideally positioned and the LWARB is a public body but it is a public body not 

currently in receipt of funds to deliver its objectives.  We are a statutory body but we do not receive any funds 

from central Government to deliver that.  At some point in time the LWARB’s funds will diminish, run out, yet 

we will have a statutory objective to deliver what is set out in our establishing order.  We very much want to 

continue to co-ordinate and support the local authorities and help deliver against the Mayor’s Waste Strategy 

but funding is needed to allow us to be able to do that going forward.   

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  I would echo that at the local level as well.  If we do 

want these major changes to happen, funding needs to follow.  At the moment boroughs are, as I said earlier, 

operating under really harsh financial conditions. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Feryal, do you think there is a case or any public appetite for a pan-London waste 

authority?  It is something certainly that Mayor [Ken] Livingstone [former Mayor of London] wanted and has 

been talked about over the years.  Do you think there is a case for that? 

 

Cllr Feryal Demirci (Cabinet Member for LB of Hackney, Vice Chair of London Councils Transport 

and Environment Committee, LWARB Member):  Even if there was an appetite for that, achieving that, 

getting there, may take quite a long time because we have differing collection systems or companies.  For 

example, in Hackney all our collection is done in-house and there are boroughs that are locked into very  

long-term contracts.  I guess there is work that the LWARB could do working with the boroughs as and when 

their contracts are coming up for renewal to look at what is happening to neighbouring boroughs.  I would say 

it will be a very costly and lengthy process. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  The short answer is no.  

Anyway, in order to do that we would have to have regulation, and the Government is, quite frankly, so mired 

in issues around Brexit and everything else we would not get there.  The key thing is obviously the outcomes, 

not necessarily the process of how we get there, and actually we have a number of really good best-practice 

models and so on. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  There is communication. 

 

Cllr Bassam Mahfouz (Cabinet Member for LB of Ealing, LWARB Member):  Yes, communication and so 

on.  We have the panel on communication through Recycle for London, which is absolutely critical.  The other 

key thing is obviously politically that we get the buy in at the local-authority level, and certainly with the 

diminishing funds that we have in both of our disposal authorities in West London and in North London we 

have an increasing role in terms of the reduce message that we play at that level and in terms of supporting 

each of the constituent boroughs around their recycling.   

 

One of the key things is not - of course everyone is always going to say, “We want more money”.  Equally what 

we do not want is that we are saying, "We are being handcuffed on both sides”.  Because we know that our 

money is reducing, and at the same time Ministers, as we have had with [Sir Eric] Pickles [former Secretary of 

State for Communities and Local Government], they are also saying, “Actually, you cannot do the things that 

would be really good practice”, and trying to regulate us and stop us from doing the things that would actually 

increase and improve recycling because they want to get a headlight in the Daily Mail, or whatever, which will 

be tomorrow’s recycling paper, of course.  The key thing is around also making sure that we are not being 

constrained on both sides, both financially and regulatory. 

 

Page 43



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Certainly we have not heard from [Sir] Eric Pickles recently.  It is a loss to all of 

us.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Any other thoughts from the panel on the Waste Authority?  Yes. 

  

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  Just to add, where we are now and 

with the Mayor’s Strategy now including municipal waste - the wider scope of municipal waste - we have a 

good opportunity for the Mayor, for the boroughs, for the LWARB, and for the waste management companies 

such as Veolia to get together and work together to achieve the objectives set out within the strategy.  There 

is general agreement that the objectives and the aim is right and is the right place to go.  Everybody is going to 

have their slightly different positions on how to achieve that, but we are certainly in a position where we can 

get together and work more as a partnership now in London to achieve those objectives. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  If I could stay with you, Andy, how could the Mayor help to fund greater recycling 

consistency across boroughs? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  In terms of our current funding and 

budget provision, most of the support is currently directed through the London Waste and Recycling Board 

and the Resource London programme, which is a partnership of the LWARB and WRAP.  WRAP funding for 

London goes through Resource London; therefore, Resource London and the LWARB are able to channel that 

funding more appropriately.  In addition to that, we are approaching the Government and saying if we are 

going to achieve the Mayor’s strategic aims, and certainly increase household waste recycling rate from  

32% to, we think, maybe, the maximum of around 42%, then we are going to need a level of investment within 

the range of £100 million to £350 million.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Over what period? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  That would provide the infrastructure 

in order to implement the soft infrastructure; the bins, the boxes, and the service changes.  As we are seeing 

when we are looking at full service changes, there are reductions in costs.  Therefore, some of that money will 

come back into the authority, but it will be a one-off payment to implement the services required to achieve 

those aims and objectives. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That has to come from the Government? 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority):  At the moment we are seeking money 

from the Government on that.  We have raised that with the Minister and the Secretary of State.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Usually when I ask how discussions with Government are going I get told, “Wait and see”, 

understandably.  I will not press that one any further. 

 

Andy Richmond (Environment Team, Greater London Authority): “Wait and see”, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Any other thoughts on what the Mayor could do with providing funding and recycling 

consistency? 

 

Paul Killoughery (Group Managing Director and Owner, Bio Collectors):  For SMEs like ourselves, one 

of the things we would like to see is - we are not asking for money, really, as such, but we would just like some 

more encouragement and some more help with certain projects that we are looking at.  For example, for us we 

Page 44



 

 

are looking at putting gas vehicles on the road to collect food waste.  It (the food) comes back to our own 

facility and makes more gas.  It is a nice circle.  However, we would still be subject to congestion charges, and 

road-fuel tax, and these other things that other policies, such as electric vehicles, would not be subject to.  

There is an imbalance there that could be discouraged and encourage the infrastructure investment that we are 

about to undertake.  Lowering the carbon footprint is all about getting the recycling rates that we want, but at 

the lowest carbon cost; therefore, recycling locally with vehicles that are very clean. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is a very interesting point.  Yes.  Good.  OK. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Thank you very much to the Committee for putting all those questions.  Can I 

also thank our panel of guests, who have been very illuminating this morning?  Thank you very much for all of 

your contributions.  Could I just ask you if you are happy to note the discussion and the report that 

accompanied it today? 

 

All:  Noted. 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 December 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public. 

 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of completed and ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Environment Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings. 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 18 October 2017 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. 

 

Draft London Environment Strategy 

The Committee requested the Deputy Mayor 

for Environment and Energy to provide: 

(a) Written response on carbon reduction 

targets. 

(b) Illustrative statistics for the future 

pressure on London’s water supply. 

(c) Data on air pollution emissions from 

river transport, including a breakdown 

(d)  between different river uses. 

(e) TfL’s plans to tackle air quality on the 

tube 

Ongoing.  

[Action chased  

24 November 2017] 

 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor, 

Environment and 

Energy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



        

 The Committee the following information: 

(a) The TE2100 Plan and The 
Environment Agency’s five-year 
monitoring report about the TE2100 
Plan.  

(b) Air pollution (both carbon and local 
pollutants) modelling for the City 
Airport expansion, and a view on 
whether such expansion is possible 
within the Committee on Climate 
Change recommendations on carbon 
emissions.  

(c) Details of TfL’s plans to reduce the 
pollution impacts of surface transport 
access at an expanded Heathrow. 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chair, Leonie Cooper AM, in consultation 

with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead 

Members to agree any outputs arising from 

the discussion 

 

 

Ongoing.  

[Action chased  

24 November 2017] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing. 

[Action chased  

24 November 2017] 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Assistant Director, 

Environment, GLA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy and Programme 

Manager, GLA. 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 13 September 2017 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Draft London Environment Strategy 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chair, Leonie Cooper AM, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead 

Members to agree the London Assembly’s 

response to the Mayor’s draft London 

Environment Strategy.  

Completed – 

Attached at  

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Chair. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 48



        

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 December 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public  

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, 

namely to agree, following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the  

London Assembly’s response to the Mayor of London’s draft Environment Strategy. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority.  This report details those actions. 

  

3.2 On the 13 September 2017, the Environment Committee resolved: 

 
The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, Leonie Cooper AM, in consultation with the 
Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members to agree the London Assembly’s response to the 
Mayor’s draft London Environment Strategy. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair wrote to the Deputy Mayor 

for Environment and Energy in response to the Draft Environment Strategy for London. This has 

been attached as Appendix 1. 

 

 

 5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



        

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Response to the draft Environment Strategy  
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member’s Delegated Authority Forms 886 [Response to the Mayor’s draft London Environment Strategy] 

 

Contact Officer:  Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone:  020 7983 4616 

E-mail:  clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 52

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


Environment Committee 

 

Telephone contact: 020 7983 6541  Email contact: ian.williamson@london.gov.uk 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

Switchboard: 020 7983 4000 

Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

Web:  www.london.gov.uk 

Alex 

17 November 2017 

Dear Shirley, 

Draft Environment Strategy 

I would like to thank you once again, on behalf of the London Assembly’s Environment Committee, 

for attending our meetings on both 13 September and 18 October 2017. We very much appreciate 

the time you have taken to present the Mayor’s draft Environment Strategy and to answer our 

questions on it. It has been very helpful to be able to speak to you before giving our formal response 

to the draft strategy. 

Please also pass our thanks to your colleagues in the GLA environment team who accompanied you 

to these meetings and provided their time and expertise: Patrick Feehily, James Hardy, Andrew Jones, 

Peter North, Andrew Richmond, Cassie Sutherland and Elliot Treharne.  

I am now pleased to attach the London Assembly’s response to the Mayor’s Draft Environment 

Strategy, as agreed by the Environment Committee following those meetings.  

Please contact the Committee’s Scrutiny Manager, Ian Williamson, on ian.williamson@london.gov.uk 

if there are any queries. 

Once again thank you very much indeed for your time.  We look forward to continuing to work with 

you in future. 

Yours sincerely, 

Leonie Cooper AM 
Chair of the Environment Committee 

Shirley Rodrigues 
Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy 

 (Sent via email ) 

Appendix 1

Page 53

http://www.london.gov.uk/
mailto:ian.williamson@london.gov.uk
mailto:carl.ridgers@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



London Assembly response to the Draft London Environment Strategy 
November 2017 
 
This is the London Assembly’s response to the Mayor’s Draft Environment Strategy. It has been 
agreed by the Environment Committee following the publication of the draft strategy in August 
2017 and meetings with the Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy in September and 
October 2017, and also drawing on work by the committee throughout the current mayoralty 
and before.  
 
Carbon reduction 
We welcome the increased ambition to 2050. The current Mayor is aiming for a 90 per cent 
reduction in emissions, with offsetting and carbon capture to reach ‘zero carbon’, compared to 
the previous strategy’s 80 per cent reduction target by the same date.  
 
However, we note that there is a decreased ambition to 2025 – an expected reduction of only 
around 52 per cent, compared to the explicit 60 per cent target set by previous Mayors. 
Combine this with the fact that estimated emissions for 2016 are lower than expected in the 
previous strategy, and it is clear that slower reductions are expected in the 2016-2025 period 
than under the previous plan. Our concern is that relaxing the 60 per cent target to a 52 per 
cent expectation implies that an estimated 17 million tonnes of extra carbon could be emitted 
between 2016 and 2025, and a further 46 million tonnes of extra carbon by 2050, compared to 
an alternative carbon reduction trajectory with the same start and end points but still meeting 
the 60 per cent target for 2025. 

 

Carbon reduction ambition in 2011 strategy and 2017 draft, plus alternative trajectory 

retaining 60 per cent 2025 waypoint 

(Percentage of 1990 baseline emissions) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
We recognise the need for realism in programme delivery expectations. We welcome new 
programme delivery measures and potential measures, such as revolving loans, the Energy Leap 
pilot, and the London Energy Efficiency Fund. With some further delivery resources and 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
4

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
6

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
8

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
0

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
2

2
0

3
3

2
0

3
4

2
0

3
5

2
0

3
6

2
0

3
7

2
0

3
8

2
0

3
9

2
0

4
0

2
0

4
1

2
0

4
2

2
0

4
3

2
0

4
4

2
0

4
5

2
0

4
6

2
0

4
7

2
0

4
8

2
0

4
9

2
0

5
0

Alternative 2011 Strategy 2017 Draft

Page 55



reduced ambition, the Mayor is less likely to miss his new targets, and less dependent on 
national action1 or market trends to hit them.  
 
However, it would be preferable to have faster carbon reductions at an earlier stage than those 
planned for. We recommend: 

• continued efforts to push for stronger national government action 

• looking for innovations in carbon reduction 

• seeking resources to accelerate London programme delivery  

• making a strong business case for rolling out the Energy Leap approach (or any others) 
if proven to work cost-effectively 

• treating the planned carbon savings as a minimum – and pushing beyond them if 
possible 

 
There is still relatively little detail on carbon reduction measures after 2025. Since, compared to 
the previous strategy, emissions in 2025 are expected to be higher, the ambition for 2050 is 
greater, and the period is much closer, the questions over how these further reductions will be 
achieved are therefore bigger and more urgent. 
 
We look forward to innovative proposals for the white-label Energy for Londoners, which we 
hope will be a first step on the path towards a fully-licensed GLA energy company; we therefore 
recommend that preparations continue for the fully-licensed GLA company and that shorter-
term arrangements do not jeopardise that in any way.2 
 
We welcome the support that there is for decentralised energy, such as support for business 
cases for community solar, and the Decentralised Energy Enabling Project. 
 
The Mayor needs to deliver on his manifesto commitment to back district heating schemes 
powered by waste heat from the Tube – in the draft strategy this is supported in principle but 
no additional project is yet identified. We recommend that work is done, in conjunction with 
boroughs, to ensure any district heating schemes include comprehensive monitoring to ensure 
customers only pay for heat used, thus maximising fuel poverty reduction. This should include 
legacy systems, many of which are inefficient.3 
 
We welcome the solar action plan, a policy that we recommended. However, the target for 
Mayoral delivery is only about 100 megawatts of additional installed capacity by 2030, which 
would not bring London even up to the capacity that other UK regions already have installed. 
The Mayor identifies the need for about ten times more – 1 gigawatt of solar capacity across 
London by 2030. There needs to be more work to identify how this capacity may be created 
across London’s economy and what enabling action is needed to ensure that it is. We look 
forward to further work on the potential for solar on TfL land and on a reverse auction for 

                                                 
1 Regarding national action, the UKIP Group does not think that power generation for the UK grid should be based 
on wood pellets, on the grounds that wood pellet production is destructive to forests. 
2 The UKIP Group does not support the Mayor dabbling in the energy market, on the grounds that a Mayoral 
energy supplier would be far too small to have any impact in the market and would simply transfer money from 
council tax payers to energy consultants. 
The Green Group supports a fully licensed Mayoral energy supply company. A white label option would allow the 
Mayor to tackle fuel poverty but would not deliver the benefits of a fully licenced option which would bring faster 
de-carbonisation of the energy sector, tackle fuel poverty, grow London’s energy sector and provide new jobs in 
London. 
3 The UKIP Group only supports district heating schemes which do not require a subsidy and where customers will 
not be tied into higher than market prices for energy. The UKIP Group says that schemes like Opportunity Sutton 
must adhere to these two principles. 

Page 56



retrofitting domestic solar, plus detailed mapping done in conjunction with the boroughs to 
ensure we move towards the 1 gigawatt the Strategy identifies. 
 
We also welcome the Mayor’s proposals for climate positive buildings that generate more clean 
energy than they consume. The Mayor should pilot this urgently: if proven, it could be a 
standard for large scale future developments in London. 
 
We welcome the Mayor’s proposals on domestic energy efficiency and fuel poverty (which 
include a number recommended by this committee). The pace and scale of delivery will be 
crucial in accelerating carbon reductions. We agree with the Mayor’s calls for an effective 
national strategy for domestic energy efficiency, providing much greater support to local and 
regional action. Whether national or local, domestic retrofit schemes should learn from the 
Green Deal’s experience and offer zero or low interest loan rates and be user friendly, to 
maximise public uptake and therefore emissions reductions.  
 
There is still an expectation that workplaces will deliver a greater-than-proportional share of 
carbon reductions, compared to homes or transport, but there is still little specific work 
proposed to extend the GLA’s public sector workplace retrofit programmes to the private 
sector. We recommend that there is clarification in the final strategy of how the expected 
workplace carbon reductions will be delivered. 
 
GLA thinking seems to be at a very early stage on the potential for Licence Lite to support 
domestic and other micro-scale electricity generation, for example from solar panels, and we 
recommend further feasibility work on this. 
 
Waste 
We welcome the renewed focus on improving recycling rates and the targets for local authority 
collected waste and the broader municipal waste. 
 
We welcome the emphasis on the circular economy. There is relatively little practical detail at 
this stage on aspects of it such as reducing the demand for virgin materials, re-use and repair 
and re-manufacture, but there is to be work done to develop these and we look forward to the 
results. We welcome that there is resource to support circular economy businesses (Circular 
London Programme, London SME Fund, Mayor’s Entrepreneur Programme). 
 
We welcome the response to committee recommendations such as on disposable packaging, 
including plastic bottles. 
 
We welcome the Mayor’s clarity to boroughs on what they are expected to collect at kerbside, 
and the emphasis on flats and on innovation in waste management, including joint 
procurement. We expect to carry out further work on this and probably make recommendations 
before the publication of the final Environment Strategy. We welcome again that there are 
resources for local authority recycling collection services (Resource London Programme) and for 
awareness-raising (Recycle London). 
 
We encourage the Mayor to take advantage of the powers he has to direct local authorities to 
act in general conformity with his waste strategy – whether by actually using the powers or 
simply by ensuring that the potential to use the powers secures greater action by boroughs that 
are under-performing on waste management.4  

                                                 
4 The Conservative Group does not support the Mayor using his powers of direction. Instead he should work with 
boroughs to improve recycling. The Conservative Group does not believe that a solution can be found by a one-
size-fits-all policy of direction. 

Page 57



 
The Mayor is posing the right questions, such as how to encourage recycling in flats, and how 
to make it easier for people to recycle, but these questions have been posed across the waste 
sector for many years, with a range of solutions proposed, and we encourage the Mayor to 
identify applicable answers and effectively promote their implementation. 
 
The London Plan will be important for the setting and implementation of recycling policy. We 
hope to discuss the London Plan in more detail during its consultation window, and potentially 
make recommendations for its content. Issues may include the strength of recycling targets for 
local authority collected waste, and policy for recycling provision in flats and other new builds. 
 
The Environment Strategy should aim for all unavoidable food waste to be anaerobically 
digested. 
 
 
Low-carbon economy 
We welcome that the Mayor sees environmental and economic goals as complementary, and is 
seeking to integrate resource efficiency, waste reduction, carbon savings and other 
environmental goals into the Economic Development Strategy. We look forward to the detail to 
come forward in that draft. We recognise the great potential for London’s advanced local 
services sector to both support and profit from the transition to a low carbon economy, and the 
creation of a ‘cleantech’ cluster in and around London. 
 
If the Mayor is not yet able to quantify the effects of environmental policy options on London’s 
economy, then there may be value in commissioning some work to enable this. Quantification 
of economic effects would assist the construction of business cases and the identification of 
economically efficient ways to achieve environmental goals. 
 
We agree with the Deputy Mayor that sending a strong signal to businesses about the long-
term direction of policy is critical, and clear policies on the low-carbon economy with quantified 
economic effects would help to generate this signal.  
 
Adapting to climate change 
We welcome action to improve climate change adaptation, including reinstating water efficiency 
to domestic retrofit programmes, and implementing the sustainable drainage action plan. 
 
We also welcome standards for new buildings on keeping cool in extreme heat. However, there 
could be more on remedying existing buildings that are vulnerable to overheating. We welcome 
the use of a ‘triple jeopardy’ risk mapping tool (similar to that first developed by the 
committee) to identify people most at risk of ill-health from overheating. However, there will 
need to be action to ensure that these risks are addressed, and monitoring to assess whether 
the risks are changing and what the outcomes are for people living with the risks. Health, social 
services, housing and other agencies are involved in managing these risks and their impacts, 
and they need to work together to find the best and most cost-effective ways of doing so. 
 
We welcome that the Mayor has adopted the principle of adaptive pathways, but more work is 
needed to develop them specifically in many areas of adaptation. There is still reference to the 
Thames Estuary 2100 plan as the main exemplar, as there was several years ago. 
 
The risks most in need of mapping are extreme rainfall and resulting flooding, and overheating. 
Climate change affects both risks, with rainfall thought likely to become more variable and 
extreme rainfall events more likely, and with temperatures overall expected to rise and to 

Page 58



become more variable. Trends in London’s population also need to be factored in, with 
population growth driving increased building, new drainage inlets and paving over of currently-
permeable surfaces, and with an ageing population increasing vulnerability to heat stress. 
Currently, policy in these areas is along the right lines, but it is not clear how big the future risks 
are expected to be or what pace of progress is needed. Adaptive pathways mapping could give 
a much clearer idea of how much needs to be done and by when. 
 
Also, it is not clear why the Mayor has not set quantitative targets for goals like reducing flood 
risk. We were told that the reason is that delivery is not within the Mayor’s control, but the 
same can be said of carbon emissions. It is within the Mayor’s strategic leadership role to set 
indicative quantitative targets, in consultation with delivery bodies, and we recommend this for 
reducing flood risk and over-heating. 
 
We welcome work with Thames Water (TW) on water supply and demand, and the emphasis on 
security and sustainability of supply. Delivery is largely TW’s responsibility and we will look at 
this further in 2018 when TW’s draft 80-year Water Resources Management Plan is published. 
 
Green infrastructure 
We welcome that there is a target to increase green space, but note that the improvement is 
not dramatic and is to be achieved gradually (the baseline quoted in the strategy is 47 per cent, 
and the target is 50 per cent in more than three decades’ time). There should be a clear 
statement of the methodology for counting the figure so that improvements in the number 
definitely come from greening London rather than shifts in measurement methods. 
 
We are disappointed that the previous administration’s 25 per cent tree cover target has been 
reduced to 22 per cent. There should also be clarity about the baseline for this metric. Tree 
cover has increased in recent years, and recent studies suggest that 21 per cent may be a more 
accurate baseline than 20 per cent, which is still quoted in the strategy having been used as the 
baseline for the strategy of the previous Mayor. The difference between 21 and 22 per cent 
tree cover is within the expected error of the estimates, and so it may prove hard to be 
confident that an increase so small has really been achieved. 
 
We recommend the publication, as part of a dashboard of environmental metrics, of regular 
estimates of the green area and tree cover of London. 
 
A net increase in tree cover will require strong protection of existing trees. We agree that the 
Mayor needs stronger powers to protect trees and will write to the Government to say so.5 Also, 
trees require management and for this, local authorities need expert tree officers, and we 
recommend support for the network of tree officers to ensure this expertise is pooled and 
retained. 
 
We welcome the proposal to introduce an urban greening factor, as we recommended, and net 
biodiversity gain in new developments. 
 
We also welcome the funding that will be available through the Greener City Fund. 
 
We welcome the continuation of the Mayor’s manifesto pledge to create green corridors, but 
note that the expectation seems to be for delivery to be based around opportunities that arise 
from development proposals, rather than around geographical planning. It seems uncertain 

                                                 
5 The Conservative Group does not agree with the Mayor having more powers regarding trees, but instead 
considers that trees are a matter for local authorities. 

Page 59



whether this will deliver green corridors more effectively than a policy to increase green space 
without reference to corridors. As the existing All London Green Grid (ALGG) and associated 
supplementary guidance implementation framework identifies sites geographically, the Mayor 
should retain this aspect of the ALGG and focus on securing the delivery of identified projects.  
 
 
It may prove that Healthy Streets (or, in consultation with Londoners in the area, de-motorising 
streets and converting into parks) will deliver sufficient green infrastructure in linear patterns to 
provide some corridor effects (as well as a range of other benefits), and we welcome the 
Healthy Streets approach. We recommend that the design and resourcing of Healthy Streets 
and other linear green infrastructure programmes should be directed towards delivery of the 
green corridors commitment. Ideally, there should be a planning exercise to identify where 
biodiversity corridors are most needed, and for which types of species, to elicit the bringing 
forward of projects with the greatest biodiversity benefits. The green infrastructure aspect of 
Healthy Streets will also need sufficient emphasis in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and the 
London Plan. 
 
We welcome the principle of access to green space and nature, which is being built into the 
National Park City approach, and also the proposal to create a ‘challenge map’ showing where 
there is a need for more access to green space. Promoting the existence of public green space 
within certain distances of homes is a step towards access, but there are more qualitative 
aspects of accessibility including the condition of green spaces, the facilities offered there, and 
the details of design and landscaping, perhaps especially at the edge of green spaces and in the 
surrounding public areas. There are also other aspects of green infrastructure quality, including 
the benefits offered in terms of biodiversity, flood protection, urban cooling and other 
environmental services. We would further welcome clearer plans about how these aspects of 
quality and accessibility will be delivered. 
 
We welcome the proposal to take forward a natural capital accounting approach, as we have 
recommended, and to establish a Green Spaces Commission. We recommend monitoring to 
establish the impact that these have on making business cases and securing resources for green 
infrastructure. 
 
Air pollution 
We broadly welcome the increased focus on reducing air pollution and people’s long-term 
exposure to it, and the improvements that the Mayor has proposed to air pollution policies, 
which are very much along the lines long recommended by this committee, including earlier 
implementation of the Ultra-Low Emission Zone, wider expansion of the ULEZ, subsequent 
creation of a Zero Emission Zone in central London, and strong emissions standards for 
regulated vehicles such as buses, taxis and PHVs. As we have indicated in consultation 
responses, we wish to see wider boundaries for the ULEZ expansion for light vehicles, ideally to 
match the London-wide zone for heavy vehicles and as a minimum to extend coverage in south 
London to a boundary more equivalent to that in the north. We were not fully reassured by the 
answers we received to concerns over boundary effects of the ULEZ, especially on the South 
Circular, a relatively narrow road running immediately alongside residential areas. An increase in 
car and van traffic on that road will not produce just a proportional increase in car and van 
emissions: it will increase congestion and so increase emissions per vehicle km for the existing 
as well as the extra traffic. This effect is likely to be exacerbated because the additional vehicles 

Page 60



using these roads will be older and more polluting vehicles that would incur a charge in the 
ULEZ.6 
 
We also welcome the proposal to adopt as targets the WHO guidelines for PM2.5 concentrations, 
which again is in tune with our long-standing emphasis on the health benefits of reducing 
pollution towards and beyond legal limits as fast as possible. Reducing PM2.5 emissions further 
will be challenging, and will require tackling sources such as brake and tyre wear, resuspension 
and solid fuel burning. Reducing the number of motor vehicles on the roads will be an 
important part of this, alongside all its other benefits to the environment, health and the urban 
realm. We will conduct further work on particulate pollution in December 2017, and recommend 
that GLA officers consider the discussion at that meeting in refining the Environment Strategy. 
 
We support the Mayor’s calls for powers over river and construction emissions, and supportive 
government action such as a new Clean Air Act, VED reform and a national diesel scrappage 
scheme.7 
 
We welcome the direction of travel to a ‘zero-emission’ transport system, and the resources 
available for rapid charging points. We will be conducting further work on electric vehicle 
charging and will make more detailed recommendations following that. 
 
We encourage the Mayor to keep up a dialogue with manufacturers to ensure that zero-
emission vehicles are produced for markets that are currently under-served, especially goods 
vehicles. We also encourage the Mayor to keep up work to facilitate alternative urban goods 
movement solutions, including bicycles, electric bicycles, zero-emission motorbikes and freight 
consolidation. These approaches can complement Healthy Streets and other improvements to 
the urban realm and we encourage the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor for Environment and 
Energy to keep working across organisational divisions to realise the benefits for London of 
these future ways of doing business. 
 
When discussing future goods vehicles, we are pleased to note that the Mayor will keep driver 
sight lines on the agenda as well, and safety for pedestrians, cyclists and other road users. 
 
We encourage the Mayor, in his energy, waste and planning policies, to continue to guard 
against developments that hinder the achievement of clean air in London and especially in 
residential areas. There are likely to be particular issues with combustion-based energy sources, 
and the Mayor’s policies on air pollution and on decentralised energy and waste management 
need to be aligned. 
 
We welcome the increased work on awareness of exposure to pollution, and would encourage 
that this work moves on to cover exposure that is currently little-known, such as exposure in 
cars to traffic emissions, and exposure in kitchens and homes from domestic gas burning and 
wood-burning stoves. 
 
We encourage the Mayor to continue to take a strong and evidence-based position on 
Heathrow expansion. Since the Government and the Mayor have a duty to reduce exposure to 
air pollution as quickly as possible they should (even without Heathrow expansion) be 

                                                 
6 The Conservative Group does not agree with the earlier implementation or wider expansion of the ULEZ, 
preferring to keep to the ULEZ size and timings ordered by the previous Mayor. 
The UKIP Group also does not support a ULEZ expansion for light vehicles to the North and South Circular roads. 
It would not support the banning of Euro 4, 5 and 6 petrol vehicles, but would support free-market, unsubsidised 
opportunities for zero emission transport. 
7 The UKIP Group does not support the devolution of VED to London. 

Page 61



implementing pollution control measures and cleaner transport improvements on the heavily-
polluted approaches to the airport. Heathrow expansion should be opposed if it worsens 
pollution compared to this cleaner transport scenario. Cleaner transport measures that are 
needed anyway should not be included in the expansion scenario and compared to the current 
high pollution situation, to construct an argument that expansion will not worsen pollution. 
 
Ambient noise 
The same logic applies to noise effects. Londoners are already suffering from the noise from 
Heathrow flights, and so noise reduction efforts are needed and are ongoing. Ongoing and 
expected noise reduction trends and measures should be part of the non-expansion comparison 
case, when assessing how much Heathrow expansion is likely to worsen noise exposure. 
 
There are other airports within London’s boundaries, with the greatest impact currently coming 
from London City Airport – these impacts should be shown in the strategy. We call for, and call 
upon the Mayor also to support, the establishment of an independent noise regulator covering 
all these airports, able to take into account the noise impacts of them all combined.  
 
We recommend that the Mayor should consider noise issues alongside air pollution 
considerations in his traffic and transport policies. In particular, shifting goods movements to 
night times could relieve congestion at peak times and therefore reduce air pollution, but there 
would need to be measures to ensure that noise from vehicle movements, loading and 
unloading does not become excessive. Educating and training drivers to use gentle acceleration 
and minimise braking would have benefits across noise, air pollution, carbon emissions, fuel 
efficiency and safety. 
 
We welcome consideration of low-noise road surfaces, but if these are not also water-
permeable we recommend caution be exercised about the area to be covered in them, perhaps 
targeting only busy and/or high-speed roads. The larger area of quiet back streets and off-road 
tarmac should be considered for permeable paving to reduce flood risk. 
 
We have heard striking testimony of the impact of noise and vibration from underground 
railways, especially the Night Tube, on residents. People are finding their homes uninhabitable 
because of the disruption to sleep. The draft strategy does not propose new or stronger action 
on this source of noise, and anticipates the expansion of the Night Tube and its usage. There is 
an urgent need for TfL to tackle these noise issues effectively, before any further Night Tube 
expansion occurs. 

Page 62



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Waste Management: Energy from 
Waste  
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 7 December 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This is the final of three meetings dedicated to the waste management investigation. The first 

meeting focussed on the circular economy and the second on recycling collections in London. This 
meeting will focus on energy from waste. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 
guests on Energy from Waste, and notes the subsequent discussion.  

2.2 The Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group Lead 
Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The term energy from waste (EfW) or energy recovery covers a range of different processes and 

technologies used to generate a useable form of energy whilst reducing the solid volume of residual 

waste. This energy can be in the form of electricity, heating and/or cooling, or conversion of the 

waste into a fuel. EfW stands second to the bottom on the waste hierarchy, above disposal, for 

example by landfill or by incineration without energy recovery. 

 

3.2 In London, nearly half of waste is sent to energy recovery, a figure that is increasing due to the 

rising of cost of landfill. London has several large EfW facilities, with another currently under 

construction. Collectively these can treat around two million tonnes of waste per year. Excess 

residual waste is also shipped to plants outside of London and the UK. The destination of London’s 

waste includes the Netherlands and Germany, where incineration capacity and recycling rates are 

high and local residual waste is low.   
 

3.3 London’s EfW facilities currently have the potential to generate enough electricity to power over 

500,000 homes and, according to the GLA, at least a further 50,000 homes could be provided with 

heat if these facilities were upgraded to operate in combined heat and power mode.   

 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Mayor’s aim is for London to be a zero-waste city by 2026. This is to mean that no 

biodegradable or recyclable waste will be sent to landfill by boroughs, but there is yet to be clear 

direction on how this affects the EfW sector. However, even if the Mayor’s target for 65% of 

London’s municipal waste to be recycled is met, EfW will continue. If the target is not met, it could 

increase. Increasing recycling may be challenging for boroughs and businesses – because many have 

made a zero-landfill commitment and have come to rely on energy from waste as a method of 

disposal, EfW looks set to continue. 
 

4.2 Compared with landfill, energy from waste is better for the environment, hence its position in the 

waste hierarchy. Landfill produces carbon dioxide and methane in roughly equal proportions whereas 

energy from waste produces carbon dioxide only. The net carbon impact of EfW is affected by how 

much usable energy can be recovered, and the carbon that would be emitted by producing this 

energy from other sources. The EfW plant’s efficiency in converting waste into energy therefore 

makes a significant difference, and this can be affected by plant design, and also by the type of 

waste used as fuel, including how much organic waste it contains. The draft Environment Strategy 

includes a proposal that waste authorities must demonstrate how solutions generating energy from 

waste meet the carbon intensity floor (CIF), or put in place demonstrable steps to meet it in the 

short-term. 
 

4.3 Eunomia argues that if the UK is to continue decarbonising the grid, then the carbon benefits 

represented by energy recovery will decline over time.  Other challenges can include; matching 

supply and demand, large up-front capital costs and addressing local community acceptance and 

approval of generation capacity.   
 

4.4 Higher still up the waste hierarchy are recycling, re-use and waste reduction. When the 

environmental costs of new materials are considered these are preferable to energy recovery, and 

form part of the ‘circular economy’ which is the long-term future of materials management. 

Committing to too much energy from waste may prove a barrier to increasing these higher levels of 

the hierarchy. Burning used man-made materials destroys their value and is not part of the circular 

economy.  
 

4.5 Health issues are also a major focus of the debate around energy from waste.  

Public Health England (PHE) says that modern, well managed incinerators make only a small 

contribution to local concentrations of air pollutants that impact on health. A recent PHE recent 

report found that ‘very low’ concentrations of incinerator-related particulates (PM10) were recorded 

within 10km of plants studied. However, other research has found that EfW plants cause significant 

harmful effects on the mental, physical and emotion health of local residents.   
 

4.6 Refuse-derived fuel (RDF) exports from the UK to the EU have seen a dramatic rise over the past 

five years but this could be affected by Brexit. RDF is fuel produced from various types of waste and 

is used to fuel EfW plants. An exit from the single market, could subject RDF to new trade 

agreements, which could prove prohibitively expensive. 
 

Page 64



        

4.7 The Committee has invited guests from the Greater London Authority (GLA) Group and beyond to 

discuss these issues. Guests expected include: 

 

 Doug Simpson, Principal Policy & Programme Officer, GLA  

 Julian Walker, Chief Operating Officer, Cory Riverside Energy  

 Professor Darryl Newport, University of East London and Institute of Civil Engineers 

representative 

 Tim Rotheray, Director, The Association for Decentralised Energy 

 Angela Murphy, Sustainability Strategy Team Leader, Camden Council 

 Shlomo Dowen, National Coordinator, United Kingdom Without Incineration Network 

(UKWIN)  

 Dan Cooke, Director of Regulatory Affairs, Viridor 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report.  

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There is no financial implication to the Greater London Authority arising from this report.  

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: 

None 

Contact Officer: Grace Loseby, Assistant Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4299 

E-mail: grace.loseby@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 65

mailto:grace.loseby@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Particulate Air Pollution  
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 7 December 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 Toxic airborne particles are a major form of air pollution harming the health of Londoners. The 

Committee will discuss with guests from the Greater London Authority, Transport for London and 
others the sources of these particles and how to reduce the harm they cause. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 
guests on particulate air pollution, and notes the subsequent discussion.  

2.2 The Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group Lead 
Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Tiny airborne particles are known as particulate matter (PM). They are among the most prevalent 

and harmful air pollutants in London (as in other urban areas). PM is breathed into the lungs and 

affects the body. Very fine particles (PM2.5) reach the deepest, and can enter the bloodstream and 

travel to other parts of the body. They can worsening diseases of the lungs, heart and circulation. 

Official estimates are that over 3,000 additional deaths happen each year in London because of 

long-term exposure to man-made PM2.5. The health effects are thought to vary in proportion to the 

concentrations of particles in the air.   

 

3.2 There are therefore legal limits on the concentrations of PM in the air. There are also guidelines from 

the World Health Organisation (WHO) recommending lower concentrations still. Sources of 

particulates in London’s air include road transport, construction and demolition, industry, and 

homes. 

 

 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Mayor’s draft Environment Strategy seeks to secure compliance with the legal limit for the 

concentrations of PM2.5 as soon as possible. It also sets the goal of meeting the WHO guideline for 

PM2.5 (a concentration in the air half of the legal limit by 2030. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



        

4.2 With modern standards for clean engines, and especially with the rise of electric and hydrogen 

powered vehicles, exhaust emissions from road transport are being markedly reduced. However, 

particles shed from the wear of brakes and tyres are not reducing, and are coming to dominate 

transport emissions. The Committee will seek to explore ways of reducing brake and tyre wear, 

including different tyre and braking technology, different driving patterns, and traffic reduction. 

 

4.3 There are other source of emissions including construction and demolition, non-road mobile 

machinery, industry and domestic energy. The Committee will also seek to explore how these 

emissions can be reduced. The Mayor has recently drawn attention back to the law against  

smoke-emitting fireplaces and burners for wood and other solid fuel in London, and suggested 

further limits on solid fuel emissions. 
 

4.4 Many Londoners are regularly exposed to a high level of particulate matter on underground rail 

services. The dominant source of particles on the Tube is wear of the metal parts such as wheels, 

brakes and rails. The resulting tiny iron particles have been said to be of low toxicity in the body, 

compared to road traffic emissions, but this has been questioned and the Mayor has commissioned a 

review of the evidence. 
 

4.5 The Committee has invited guests from the GLA Group and beyond to discuss these issues. Officers 

are expected to attend from the GLA and Transport for London. There may also be external experts 

such as from industry and academia. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report.  

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There is no financial implication to the Greater London Authority arising from this report.  

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: 

None 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: ian.williamson@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 68

mailto:ian.williamson@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Environment Committee Work 
Programme 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 December 2017 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report notes and updates the Committee’s work programme for the 2017/18 London Assembly 

year.  The programme was originally agreed at the June 2017 meeting, and is updated monthly.   

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the committee notes its current and recent work, detailed in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.3, 

and its agreed future work programme, as set out in paragraphs 4.4 to 4.10. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 The work programme for the Assembly year 2017/18 was originally agreed in June 2017, at the first 

meeting of the Assembly year.   

 
3.2 A similar report will be submitted to each subsequent meeting to track the committee’s work and 

propose any changes, including confirming dates and adding topics as required. 

   

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

Waste Management 

4.1 Having discussed waste reduction and the circular economy in July, and recycling collections in 

November, at this meeting the Committee is concluding its discussions on waste management with a 

session on waste-to-energy incineration. Incineration with energy recovery has environmental 

advantages over landfill, as it uses less land and delivers energy that might otherwise come from 

fossil fuels. However, as incineration destroys materials, recycling is to be preferred wherever 

possible. With goals to eliminate landfill, increase recycling and reduce overall waste, there is a 

strategic question as to how much incineration capacity should be part of London’s overall waste 

management system. A covering report on this topic can be found at Agenda Item 6.    

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



        

 

4.2 The Committee published a short report of its findings on the circular economy, and is planning a 

similar publication relating to recycling collections. It may publish a further short findings report 

after this meeting, and a final report with recommendations from the waste investigation overall. 
 

Particulate air pollution 

4.3 One of the most harmful forms of air pollution is particulate matter – tiny toxic particles carried in 

the air deep into Londoners’ lungs and entering the body. The health effects are believed to occur at 

any concentration of particles in the air, and to increase in proportion to the concentration, which is 

typically higher in urban air. The Mayor has proposed adopting as targets guideline levels from the 

World Health Organisation that are more stringent than the current UK legal limits for particles in 

the air. Current Mayoral policies, directed especially at reducing exhaust emissions from road 

vehicles, may not be enough to achieve these more ambitious targets. Other sources of particulates 

include the wear of vehicle brakes and tyres, construction and demolition activity, and fuel burning 

in buildings, including solid fuels. A covering report on this topic can be found at Agenda Item 7.    

 

Work programme for the rest of 2017/18 

4.4 The table below sets out the allocated dates for the Environment Committee for the rest of  

2017/18 Assembly year, with suggested dates:  

 

4.5 The work programme is subject to change in future as the Committee develops proposals for its 

work.  Dates may be used for formal committee meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other 

activities for the Committee.  The work programme also provides for the committee to respond to 

any matters that arise during the year.    

 

 Airport National Policy Statement 

4.6 The Government on 24 October 2017 re-opened consultation on the  

Airport National Policy Statement, in the light of revised information on the air pollution and noise 

impacts of expanding Heathrow Airport, and changes to Government policy. The deadline for further 

responses is 19 December 2017. The Committee has previously responded to consultations on this 

issue, but has delegated authority to the Chair in consultation with party Group Lead members to 

agree an updated submission in the light of new information.  

 

 Electric Vehicles 

4.7 The rise of electric vehicles offers benefits to urban air quality and potentially to carbon emissions, 

but there is a long way to go to secure the right charging infrastructure to support electric taxis, 

minicabs, buses and a large fleet of private electric cars.  The Committee may select a particular type 

of vehicle or charging infrastructure to focus on – Committee Members are currently considering 

options informally. It is planned to discuss this at the January 2018 meeting. 

 

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

17 January 2018 

Committee meeting 

Electric vehicle charging networks 

London Plan (date to be confirmed) 

21 February 2018 
Committee meeting 

Thames Water  

15 March 2018 
Committee meeting 

Mid-term progress update 

Page 70



        

London Plan Issues 

4.8 The Mayor’s policy lever for many actions on environmental issues is the London Plan. These issues 

include sustainable drainage, the Urban Greening Factor, the zero-carbon standard for homes, any 

replacement for the Code for Sustainable Homes in London, support for solar installations, energy 

efficiency retrofit, district heating, and other forms of infrastructure. The Committee may wish to 

invite Greater London Authority planning officers and perhaps the  

Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills, Jules Pipe, to a meeting early in 2018, within 

the consultation window on the draft London Plan. The Committee’s views could be fed into the 

Planning Committee, for the Assembly’s formal response to the Draft London Plan. 
 

Water Issues 

4.9 The Committee has met with Thames Water (TW) already this year, discussing issues of water 

management. The Committee has further agreed to invite TW and potentially other guests to its 

February 2018 meeting to discuss water issues, potentially including: 

 TW’s strategic review of its trunk mains network, following the spate of major bursts causing 

flooding and disruption to homes, businesses and main roads in winter 2016-17; 

 TW’s Water Resources Management Plan, and the need to balance London’s water supply 

and the demand for water from its growing population;  

 ‘Fatbergs’ and TW’s efforts to keep London’s drains clear of obstructions caused by 

inappropriate material such as fats and so-called flushable wipes being put into drains; 

and/or 

 The Thames Tideway Tunnel, especially environmental impacts of its construction. 

 

Mayoral Mid-term Progress 

4.10 The end of the 2017-18 year marks the mid-point of the 2016-20 Mayoral term. As environmental 

issues have been so prominent in the Mayor’s agenda, they form a significant part of any evaluation 

of his progress so far. The Committee hopes to meet with the  

Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy to round off the Environment Committee’s work for this 

year and help contribute to an Assembly-wide mid-term report. 

 

Items Potentially to be Dropped or Deferred to 2018/19 

4.11 The above topics largely fill the Committee’s work programme for the remainder of 2017/18. The 

following other topics, having been previously considered for the 2017/18 work programme, can be 

looked at again for the following year. However, going into a new year for the London Assembly, 

with potentially new Committee membership and/or chairing, there is to be a new process of 

generating and gathering ideas, and selecting priorities, involving members cross-party. 
 

Air Pollution 

4.12 Further air pollution issues could include: 

 River traffic emissions; 

 Building emissions (potentially including wood and solid fuel burning); 

 Emissions from secondary engines (such as diesel generators powering refrigeration units on 

chilled lorries); or 

 Alternative fuels for combustion engines (such as liquefied petroleum gas)   

Page 71



        

 

Commercial Waste 

4.13 Much of London’s business waste is collected by commercial providers, not within the scope of the 

waste investigation’s topic on municipal recycling and waste collections. Subject to further scoping 

and work planning, the Committee may investigate how commercial waste collections support 

recycling and other environmental goals. 

 

 Major Projects 

4.14 The Committee will continue to scrutinise major ongoing and proposed projects (such as the 

expansion of Heathrow Airport, and High Speed Two).   

 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

 

 
List of appendices to this report:  
None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk    

 

 

Page 72

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	 
	Transcript - Environment Committee 09-11-17

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	53 Shirley Rodrigues - 17 November 2017 - ES response.pdf(1)
	London Assembly response to 2017 draft Environment Strategy.pdf (2)

	6 Waste Management: Energy from Waste
	7 Particulate Air Pollution
	8 Environment Committee Work Programme

